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Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
A BILL for an Act to create and enact chapter 43-64 of the North Dakota Century Code, relating 
to the licensure and regulation of behavior analyst professionals; to amend and reenact 
sections 43-32-01, 43-32-02, 43-32-08, 43-32-08.1, 43-32-08.2, 43-32-09, 43-32-12, 43-32-13, 
43-32-14, 43-32-16, 43-32-17, 43-32-19.1, 43-32-20, 43-32-27, 43-32-27.1, 43-32-30, 43-57-01, 
43-57-03, and 43-57-06, subsection 2 of section 43-57-07, and section 43-57-11, relating to the 
regulation of applied behavioral analysts of psychologist examiners and to the board of 
integrative health care; to provide a penalty; and to provide an effective date. 
 

Minutes:                                                 Attachments # 1 - 3 

 
Vice Chairman O. Larsen: Opens the hearing on SB 2236. 
 
Senator Judy Lee, District 13, West Fargo: Introduced SB 2236 and gave a brief 
description.  
 
Senator Anderson: The previous bill we heard had provisions about provisional licenses 
and so forth, that isn’t included in this bill is it? (SB 2286). 
 
Chair Lee: I was unaware of that. It was not a part of the original discussion. We wanted to 
shorten the amount of time it takes for licensure. 
 
(07:15) Sandy Smith, Co-Founder, President, and Executive Director of the North 
Dakota Autism Center, Inc.: Testified in favor of SB 2236. Please see Attachment #1 for 
testimony. 
 
Chair Lee: I’m curious about the practicing with non-humans, is that’s something that’s really 
important in the model legislation? 
 
(18:08) Sandy Smith: These amendments were put together after the ND Autism Spectrum 
Disorder Coalition meeting. (Inaudible) We just put all of them in there.  
 
Chair Lee: Senator Larsen just mentioned people who are doing a therapy thing. But my 
understand is we’re talking about modifying the behavior of non-humans. Modifying the 
behavior of humans with animal therapy, horses, dogs, whatever.  
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Senator Lee: We don’t want to be out of compliance with model legislation. But we need to 
know how other states are doing this. Have Gina send us something. 
 
Sandy Smith: Autism Speaks in the past has been keepers of this model legislation. It was 
handed off to The Association of Professional Behavior Analyst, which is a good thing.  
 
Senator Lee: Difference between a board regulating a profession and an association which 
advocates for them.  
 
Sandy Smith: Autism Speaks has signed on as a supporter of this model licensure act. 
Continued with descriptions of recommended amendments, Attachment 1, page 25. 
 
Chair Lee: The certification would be consistent with that of nurses. Gave example of 
different levels of nurses’ certification. 
 
Sandy Smith: Continued with recommended amendments.  
 
(32:10) Lorena Poppe, Owner and Executive Director of Poppy’s Promise: Testified in 
favor of SB 2236. Please see Attachment #2 for testimony.  
 
Holly Johnson, Licensed Board Certified Behavior Analyst and Executive Board 
President for the North Dakota Association for Behavior Analysis (NDABA). Written 
testimony provided by Lorena Poppe. Please see Attachment #3 for testimony.  
 
Chair Lee: Asked for further testimony for, against, or neutral.  
Closed the hearing on SB 2236. 
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Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
A Bill relating to the licensure and regulation of behavior analyst professionals; relating to the 
regulation of applied behavioral analysts of psychologist examiners and to the board of 
integrative health care; to provide a penalty; and to provide an effective date. 
 

Minutes:                                                 No Attachment 

 
Vice Chair Larsen opened the Human Services Committee for discussion on SB2236. I think 
there were some amendments on that. 
 
Senator Anderson: I did pass out some testimony from Dr. Kolsteau who is Chair of the 
Board that regulates the Applied Behavioral Therapists now, and you can kind of look at that 
in your own spare time, but basically he says they are trying to fix the problems that they had 
with the licensure and the delay and their making gradual progress toward that. His opinion 
is they could stay with the Psychology Board where it is now and wouldn’t have to move. I 
really didn’t hear clearly from the Applied Behavioral Therapists about why they were seeing 
problems and why they wanted to move. Maybe some of the rest of you did, I don’t know.  
 
Senator Hogan: I know as a boarder community, a number of agencies ABA Certified in 
Minnesota, have waited years to get through the state board of psychology and through the 
current process and they are just so frustrated and because there is such a shortage of this 
group that people just literally give up trying to get licensed. Many of them who clearly, I 
mean some of the time lines on these have been outrageous. Because you know in the old 
days, insurance didn’t cover it, but now that insurance is covering it we have numbers of kids 
in schools often they will want an ABA to work with the teacher and the family. Literally there 
is good skilled people in Moorhead and they can’t come into West Fargo because of this 
barrier. So, I know that Dr. Kolstoe believes that he is timely, it’s just not the experience of 
people that I’ve heard from at least in my community. I think Senator Lee, has heard these 
stories over and over again.  
 
Vice-Chair Larsen: Does anybody know if the ABA certification and ABA therapy is mostly 
falling. Are the people that are getting certified are they mostly the school psychologists or 
are they a sprinkling of the other counselors that are in the Human Services umbrella? Do 
we know that? 



Senate Human Services Committee  
SB2236 
January 31, 2019 
Page 2  
   

Senator Hogan: I know the schools are probably one of the major areas. Day care providers 
are using them, residential treatment programs often have them, DD providers have them. 
In most states we have a much stronger group of professionals but because the licensing 
has been so, people have even stopped trying to get licensed or trying to go into the field. 
This has been an issue that’s been on the interim agenda for a while. Then when the 
insurance commissioner decided to with mental health parity, we have to fund it. That was 
like okay now is the time maybe, that is kind of where these bills came from. 
 
Vice-Chair Larsen: There is only one provider at Riverside in Minot, where my wife works 
that does ABA therapy. But my sister-in-law in Wyoming, just got certified with that through 
the schools and she is a school psychologist. That’s why I was wondering why where that 
goes. So is the amendment then, completed and we haven’t moved on that. I don’t have a 
copy. 
 
Senator Hogan: We have a proposed amendment, that was submitted don’t we? It looks 
like this, and we might need to get this drafted into the right amendment. 
 
Vice-Chair Larsen: I don’t have a draft piece of that. Was that put together? Did Alex put 
that together? It was SB22236, those amendments that were proposed by. Alex: replied I 
did not put those together. Vice-Chair Larsen: Was it Holly? It came from LC. Andie Smith 
and she brought that.  
 
Senator Roers: I have to admit the whole time she was quoting this one person, Gina Green, 
and I am wondering is there only one person who is like the knowledge holder in this space.  
 
Vice-Chair Larsen: She brought the bill. I got a copy of the bill, and then on the back page 
were the amendments and I’ve got those amendments to the bill.  
 
Senator Roers: Then she had like recommendations as well.  
Senator Hogan: We’re trying to figure out the 2236 amendments suggestions from the 
national group.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: The model legislation was what the basic funds for this and we may want 
to have a little time to look at what those all are. But the idea was of course that we would be 
in sync then with the other states which are adopting it. I believe that I forwarded it to all of 
you the information about the number of states that now are building their state legislation 
around that model legislation. I believe it was something like 20, but I can’t recall exactly. I 
have it in my computer file. The idea being that it would be a lot better for reciprocity and the 
ability to get more ADA’s into the state if we’re making sure that what we have in place is 
going to be in parallel with what is the licensing in the state where they maybe currently 
residing. So, that was the reason for this whole thought here. Hopefully because it was 
Jennifer Clark was the one who worked with me on this one. We were trying to put that in 
place as much as possible.  
 
Vice-Chair Larsen: What we were just looking at is that this document that was referencing 
this Gina Green and it has Chapter 43-57 Integrated Health Care, where it talks about the 
Board qualifications and powers and duties and then amendments to the Senate bill of 2236,  
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the front and back page. Then I don’t know if Alex had moved where that would integrate this 
page here into the bill of where that looked. I don’t see that at all yet either. 
 
Alex: I don’t remember being asked to doing that previously so I hadn’t.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: I am sure you would’ve done it if we had asked you too. Alex: Well I am 
happy to do that.  
 
Senator Hogan: I think that Senator Roers this is a big deal. You’re right. This is a huge deal 
because it’s a major change and it’s come after maybe four to six years of frustration from 
the ABA people. That was the Behavioral, it’s come? (10:05)  
 
Senator Roers: I am not doubting the need for a lot of this work. I worry that this is a lot of 
words. Are we in, I sit on GVA, and then I sit on this and in both of them we are having all 
these conversations about Occupational Licensing Boards and what role they play in barriers 
to entry into practice. I know that the intent of this is to actually remove barriers by moving 
them to a different board that can be a little more responsive to their needs. However, I just 
want to make sure that whatever the words are that we place in that section now don’t just 
create a different barrier. So I think being able to see it all at once in one nice big picture will 
be very helpful for us to be like okay, Yes, this makes sense but maybe we don’t need this 
or perhaps we don’t need to be that specific or something. But I think right now I can’t see it. 
 
Madam Chair Lee: I don’t have no problem with that at all. I would like to that as well. Part 
of the issue is we talked about earlier on is that the Board of Psychology Examiners, 
Psychologists Examiners did not want the ABA’s and the ABA’s didn’t really want to be there. 
It has not worked well. There have been tremendous delays in trying to get licensing and I 
have a message up at my desk. 
 
Senator Roers: Do we know that the Integrative Health want it?  
 
Madam Chair Lee: Oh that is an orphan group anyway. Acupuncturists. That is intended to 
be for these professions that don’t have enough individual of their own and when they get to 
100 then they can have their own board. So it is the same with some others. I think the 
Nuclear Rad Techs we did last time, are in Integrated Health Board. So it allows them to be 
they are not running each other, but some administrative stuff ends up being run through this 
Integrative Health Board. But if you haven’t gotten messages from Dr. Kolstoe, whose is on 
the Psychology Board, I have and what I should’ve done was print them out and bring them 
down. We got them. He is on the board and we need to be concerned what he has to say 
but as is true of all boards, memberships changes over a period of time and so we need to 
recognize what’s good for the professions, both of them, in moving that whole thing forward.  
When would you be able to have that little-markup done? Alex: By the time you’re off the 
floor by 3PM. So I could have it done today. That would be great. I was hoping it might be 
possible but I didn’t want to push you to hard. 
 
 Madam Chair Lee: If we could have it after the floor session, that would be really good. 
Which would allow us then to really look at both bills together and see one or the other or 
both, how we work this. We need to consider them at the same time.  
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Alex: What I can do is make all of the changes and highlight the changes in a word document.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: We will be happy with it. Is there anything you wanted to talk to us about 
this morning? We’re happy to have you come visit. Let’s side aside the ABA stuff until after 
floor session because she’ll have that ready and then why don’t you begin some chat about 
the Medicaid fraud units and we’ll see if there’s information that we need to further that 
discussion and I will be right back.  
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Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
A Bill relating to the licensure and regulation of behavior analyst professionals; relating to the 
regulation of applied behavioral analysts of psychologist examiners and to the board of 
integrative health care; to provide a penalty; and to provide an effective date. 
 

Minutes:                                                 No Attachments 

 
Madam Chair Lee opened the Senate Human Services Committee for discussion on 
SB2236.  
(00:00- 5:21 no record of voices on tape) 
 
Senator Hogan: How common is it to have in boards to establish exemptions from regulation, 
that is an interesting line that I don’t know that I’ve seen before. 
 
Senator Anderson: I think more commonly what you would see would be to establish 
variances, it doesn’t make any sense to make regulations and then the board also establishes 
the exemptions from the regulations that they made. But sometimes you do see that they can 
grant variances for specific things. We didn’t do that a lot in our board but it could be done. 
So, I don’t think this really is appropriate language because why would the board establish 
exemptions from the regulations that they make. So we need to straighten that out. 
 
Senator Hogan: So you’re suggesting the strike-out makes sense? 
 
Senator Anderson: yes. 
 
Senator Hogan: Let’s just it through while we are going through them.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: next would be, Section 22. While in here as we’ve noted, instead of them 
being in the Board of Psychologists Examiners, that they are going to be moved to the State 
Board of Integrative Health Care. As you see on Line 11, certifying entity means the behavior 
analyst certification board or another entity whose programs to credential practitioners of 
applied behavior analysis are accredited by these national certifying agencies. So that would 
be new language that permits more than one credentialing entity.  
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Senator Hogan: So I am going to try and understand this now. So the Board would license 
but everybody would have to be certified by this national board, so it’s an external standard. 
 
Madam Chair Lee: That would be my expectation.  
 
Senator Hogan: So as long as were clear about that is what we are doing then.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: You may recall that there is now model legislation which Ms. Grossman 
up in Legislative Council used as the basis for some of these changes, so that ours would be 
in parallel with the laws in several other states and that would make it easier for someone to 
come from another state here and get a license. So the categories of certification are in 
parallel. So then there is the phrase, that’s added to the license assistant behavior analyst 
for whom on 17 and 18 but it is proved by the certifying entity to supervise assist behavior 
analyst. 
 
Senator Anderson: When I was recently in CSL in Florida, some of the proponents there 
said was all we needed was to say that they needed to be a certified by a national certifying 
body and then we didn’t need to license it. So here you are saying both.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: Okay, so what do you think? 
 
Senator Anderson: I think the licensure kind of meets the standard that we have in North 
Dakota. We haven’t been just willing to throw it off to a national certifying agency, so maybe 
we’re doing both. 
 
Madam Chair Lee: Well it seems to me, unless I am misunderstanding here that they would 
have to have the certification in order to be licensed. I think that’s the deal. Then moving 
down into #5, the practice. 
 
Senator Hogan: I like this because it’s really specific about what the practice is and that 
sometimes has been confusing with behavior analysts.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: Some also wanted to exclude diagnosis of disorders psychological 
testing, psycho- therapy, cognitive therapy, psycho- analysis and counseling. And so that is 
the one definition there with licensed behavior analyst and then we get to behavior 
technicians which is #6 on page 17, if you have it in paper, with a paraprofessional who 
practices under close ongoing supervision of a licensed behavioral analyst or a assistant 
behavior analyst. It does not design an assessment or intervention plans or procedures but 
delivers services as assigned. So, Rosalie one of the things that we dealt with when we first 
had the legislation about behavior analyst, was the individuals who are working for the 
Department of Human Services who are not doing the same kind of work as the folks who 
are working in the Autism Center for example. We don’t want them to be prevented from 
doing what they have been doing for years. We want to make sure that this does not interfere 
with that, so if we call them behavior technicians, are we okay or do we have any barriers to 
those people who are working like at the Life Skills in Transition Center?  
 
(11:00) Dr. Rosalie Etherington: I am hoping this might not sound like a really stupid 
question. Considering that there are a set of technicians that were currently under a group of 
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professionals that are already licensed elsewhere, would this creation in law, prevent us as 
other professionals from supervising their work that is not licensed? So what purpose would 
this serve when it’s not called out than its not relevant here, and the work of those groups 
that still work under a different professional can continue because there is no other rule that 
would prevent it. That makes sense. So under HOMS at the moment there is a classification 
for Behavior Modification Specialist, for example, and that is a group of professionals that I 
and other psychologists to provide within the Department of Human Services for the purpose 
under supervision of others to provide certain care. Right now there is no board that governs 
their work, and there is no license that would give them a reason to exist so to speak. Yet, 
we do have a classification system what would say what degrees are necessary and what 
training.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: That was what we were trying to make sure we didn’t mess up last time. 
I don’t want to mess it up this time either. So you think that and maybe we should as Jonathan 
Alm what his opinion might be about this because I don’t think it is a terrible thing have them 
identified as people who are providing services in a positive way, but I don’t want it to restrict 
the supervision of them by people licensed in another area.  
 
Senator Roers: I worry about that Madam Chair, of being unsupervised. 
 
Dr. Rosalie Etherington: In relation to the certification so we require already the National 
Certification for ABA, and so I do ask a question about why is licensing even necessary 
because they already have that certification. If they come into the state immediately they 
could practice under that certification without a license if the purpose of a licensing board just 
to gather the group of individuals. 
 
Madam Chair Lee: Or to charge them an annual renewal fee. Senator Roers: That’s what I 
was thinking. 
 
Dr. Rosalie Etherington: May I further state that so under Medicaid for example, and 
potentially other third party payers, we’ve already identified it not as a licensed professional 
but as a nationally certified ABA, that is a requirement to actually bill for services and put out 
your shingle.  
 
Senator Anderson: You’re a psychologist, and apparently licensed under the Board of 
Psychologist Examiners. What do you think about his moving them or your used to license 
them under the board? So what was the reason for that is there is no reason to have them 
licensed now? Of course it seems to me we had people in here clamoring to get them 
licensed previously, explain that to us, if you can? 
 
Dr. Rosalie Etherington: So, for the sake of sounding like I am not supporting my board, I 
do believe that the initial request for them to come under the Board of Psychologist 
Examiners was to identify them as a profession and bring legitimacy to their practice within 
the state because they were often not recognized for the skills and the work that they did. 
The Board was misguided in the requirements that they set under the Board of Psychologist 
Examiners because in many ways it set them out as somehow having to meet the same 
criteria that we as psychologists did, which was because they are not psychologists. They 
are Certified Behavioral Analysts. They already have an identified set of criteria necessary 
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to meet that certification. So simply if it had been brought under the Board of Psychologist 
Examiners which in many ways Behavior Analysts belong with us as behaviorists-that’s the 
origin of psychology. I am a Behaviorist that somehow if it would have been brought under 
but just with the requirement for the certification and then it would have unified the board, it 
would have made a lot more sense. It would have been simple.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: It didn’t seem to be a happy marriage between the ABA’s and the 
psychologist so it seems to me that this would be a cheerful divorce.  
 
Dr. Rosalie Etherington: Agreed unfortunately. Madam Chair Lee: I mean analogies. The 
Integrated Heath Board who seems like the only logical place to go, because we want them 
to have professional recognition. The only thing I am wondering is was the licensing having 
something to do with their reimbursement under insurance carriers. It’s not that at all. 
 
Dr. Rosalie Etherington: No, because currently for example under Medicaid they are not 
identified as licensed behavior analysts, they are identified as certified ABA. Correct? Board 
Certified Behavior Analysts.  
 
Senator Hogan: Do you think we should take number 6 out and just not reference behavioral 
technicians in this, is that what I am hearing you say?  
 
Dr. Rosalie Etherington: So committee, with all due respect I believe that it’s not only 
unnecessary but it would hinder it, it would create problems. I would also go further to state 
that certified behavior analysts within their scope serve good purpose, but not necessarily in 
the supervision of others in trying to bring forward a set of paraprofessionals.  
 
Senator Hogan: But looking at their national standards, this appears to be, and I thinking 
particularly in school based services now. I know schools are moving to using behavior 
analysts a lot in having technicians in the school based setting and so, this I don’t want to 
risk it in other settings, if this would be a helpful tool in some settings? 
 
Dr. Rosalie Etherington:  That provision in capacity already exists under Special Education 
in schools. So they already have capacity to hire special education technicians for the 
purpose of working under another set of professionals to provide service and often one to 
one assistance for students that are in special education. 
 
Senator Hogan: So perhaps we should take 6 out? Dr. Rosalie Etherington: In my opinion 
yes. Example cited (18:28)  
 
Madam Chair Lee: We also know that the schools who are looking to hire professionals need 
to be encouraged to contract for those services and not hire them directly. It is just a way 
better way to do it. So do we have any issues with that, if Senator Larson is running ABC 
services and it includes professionals that include that you’re the superintendent of the school 
and that you need for your student, is there anything that this general bill and concept of 
licensing would do to make that more difficult so that you could hire Senator Larson’s 
business to contract with them to provide whatever kinds of professional services that might 
be able to offer that the school needs.   
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Dr. Rosalie Etherington: In my opinion, if number 6 remained, then it would require the 
school when employing those technicians to also employ a certified ABA and they couldn’t 
use potentially other professionals that might be in that region that could provide equivalent 
supervision within the schools. So for example, in Dickinson, there are no current certified 
ABA’s in Dickinson, but they do have several private psychologists that do also treat children. 
So if they hire Dr. Fair for example and his group, and they went into the schools they could 
not in fact, supervise those technicians and provide ongoing support if this was in place. If 
that’s what they would call them. 
 
Madam Chair Lee: Did you have any other reservations? I realize we’re all getting our 
memories refreshed at the last minute here, but, any other reservations about the highlighted 
items that we have now seen. We’ve gone through them all. Do you have any strong feelings 
about certifying versus licensing or both?  
 
Dr. Rosalie Etherington: It does in my opinion so the section right above 6, and I am 
presuming that is 5, identifies what is the practice of applied behavioral analysis is. I cannot 
see from any of that, that it would exclude me as a psychologist and a behaviorist to be able 
to do within in my scope of practice, behavior analysis because I am trained to do so. So, I 
don’t believe so. I just want to make sure that you guys are aware that the practice of 
psychology in of itself, is behavioral analysis. It is the very crux of it.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: I think we get that, and the problem is it is just professionally for that 
group has not tried under the current program.  
 
Dr. Rosalie Etherington: It is just important to know that we have a program within the state 
at NDSU where we have a group of so in their Psychology department they actually train up 
a lot of individuals either at the VA level and at the Master’s level, in Behavioral Analysis.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: Do we not have one at the UND Psychology Department also? 
Dr. Rosalie Etherington: I am not sure. 
Madam Chair Lee: I thought that the women who ran that talked to me one day.  
 
Krista Flemming (22:20) from the Medical Services Division: I believe that at UND, it is 
within the School of Education instead of psychology. There is a program at UND. 
 
Madam Chair Lee: I thought they had the program.  
 
Dr. Rosalie Etherington: Probably in their Master’s Program for Special Education, I 
wonder. Madam Chair Lee: That could be it. 
 
Senator Anderson: I think we ought to keep in mind that maybe we ought to pare this whole 
thing down and whether we leave them with the psychologists and just say they have to be 
certified behavioral analysis to be licensed in North Dakota or whether you create a new 
board and make it as simple as Dr. Hanson did, appoint. I think we ought to seriously consider 
that at this point.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: Seriously consider moving it. Senator Anderson: Let the ABA’s tell us 
why that won’t work? Madam Chair Lee: They want it moved. Senator Anderson: I am 
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talking about you know they have just as many criteria for licensure in their board as they 
had in the previous board, it is just the different board is going to be governed. 
 
Madam Chair Lee: You said it would be 17 months to get a license. It might be fewer. Well 
I do want to have a chance to visit with Dr. Lisa Faust (24:12) at Blue Cross also because 
she has been kind enough to do the grid that you all got that kind of compares things there.  
 
Dr. Rosalie Etherington: To not that I have any obligation to stand up and in support of the 
board taking 17 months for licensure however, I think important for the committee to know 
that the board has been at half board membership for more than 6 months. I believe actually 
more than 9 months to no fault of their own. So I think that is just is an important thing to 
understand that there have been applicants that have been brought forward and they have 
not been vetted. Therefore, the board has been brought to their knees in their capacity to do 
their job in trying to just license and re-license.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: So they are waiting for the appointment? Dr. Rosalie Etherington: 
Correct. 
 
Madam Chair Lee: I do recall hearing that and I am glad you brought it up, because it was 
important. Would you like to have a little time to kind of digest this and then we could act on 
it tomorrow actually, but I do want Sandy to hear what our discussions are and I would Lisa 
Faust and Barb Stanton also who have been our advisors along the way with this whole thing. 
So I could forward the completed mock up to them and let them see what’s going on, and let 
them know that we are thinking of deleting section 6 because of the subsection 6 because of 
the reasons described already.  
 
Senator Hogan: The other thing while you were out, we talked a bit with Alex about trying to 
merge 2163 the second ABA bill, and is there section anything in 2163 that needs to be 
added to this or is it covered by the amendments that we’re currently looking at?  
 
Madam Chair Lee: The expedited license portion number? Senator Hogan: Yes, the 
expedited license portion. So I think that cross reference if we can Alex look at that, 
simultaneously, so that if we have one set of amendments it has both pieces in it.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: Because the price of vaping this is the only little package that we have. I 
want to do it thoughtfully. So rather than ignoring the people that have been getting us some 
input much of which we have forgotten in our busyness in the last 5 weeks. Lori is this a 
testimonial as to why you ought to do it the first week. We just couldn’t then. We didn’t have 
money in it. But with that thought in mind, if we allow. 
 
Senator Anderson: If you look at 2286 and I think we can look at the merge, but, that pretty 
much says that if they are certified they ought to be able to license in North Dakota. So, if we 
make this other bill to include the certification then we’ve solved both problems at the same 
time, it seems to me. We’ll look at that. 
 
Madam Chair Lee: That’s what I want to ask the people who are really tuned in about that. I 
am not the expert. Any other questions that we’ll want to have answered by a variety of 
people. Anyone comes to mind right now?  
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Senator Anderson: I hope that the doctor will look at this and tell us where other problems 
might exist because there is some other language in here at least in the amendments that 
talk about who can certify whom; who can supervise whom; so.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: We don’t end sentences in prepositions either. This is from Dr. Lisa Faust 
and she had done this comparison grid and that gives us a chance to include that in our little 
review. We’re going to do the vaping one today and that will be it. We will recess until after 
session. 
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Madam Chair Lee opens the discussion on SB 2236. Please call the roll. We will work off the 
original bill. 
 
(1:00) Jill Grossman, Legislative Council:  What we are talking about specifically is on 
page 16 of the bill, section 22. That creates a new chapter of the century code. (Chapter 
43.64) There has been some communications regarding which new professions to license in 
this chapter, and when Sen. Lee gave me this to draft, she put me in contract with Dr. Fouse. 
Currently, ND has licensed assistant behavioral analysts and there is model legislation that I 
was working off of for this draft. The licensed behavioral analyst used to be called applied 
behavioral analysts. Dr. Fouse encouraged the model language terms, so when people go 
from state to state, they can understand who they are referring to.  there were some questions 
about including a behavioral technician. Currently, there is a para-professional staff that is 
not licensed or registered under our law. The term isn’t consistent, so she tried to get that be 
consistent. She called it a skills trainer.  I believe that would be the model legislation’s 
behavior technician. Currently, we don’t do anything with those individuals, so not including 
them in this wouldn’t have a significant impact.  The mock up included language about a 
certifying entity.  The person is supposed to be licensed. We really discourage doing that in 
our laws.  We want a state actor to be involved. We want a board to approve a certifying 
entity.  
 
(05:10) Sen. Anderson: Does that work by the board define that the certifying agency be 
done by administrative rules? 
 
Jill: We kind of took care of that on page 17, subsection 1, division A.  When we talk about 
the applicant applying for licensure we say that they need to have successful completion of 
education, examination, and experience requirements established by the board. It goes on 
to list. That is kind of a tip off to the board to what we are telling you.  
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Sen. Anderson: Sometimes more than one of those national certifying agencies comes 
forward.  The board establishes those either by vote or by rule.  I’ve heard the attorney 
general say it should be done by rule. (6.36) 
 
Chair Lee: We could ask the AG’s office if it should be rule or vote.  
 
Jill: I would think that would give them enough leeway because it talks about the 
requirements established by the board. That gives them enough authority to look at other 
entities.  If anyone asked me I would say we typically don’t do the certifying entity. I think that 
is why it wasn’t included in the original bill. The behavioral technician was not included in the 
current bill, because they are not currently registered or licensed. The intent of the bill was 
to remove them from the state board of Psychologists Examiners, and put them in a new 
board; the State Board of Integrative Health.    
 
Sen. Hogan: They also suggested a pretty expanded definition on of the practice of 
behavioral analysis.  Do you have feedback on that specific change? 
 
Jill: My office does not like the term ‘they’. A lot is included. the first sentence is the same 
the second says the practice of applied behavioral analyst.  We also have the last sentence 
in there, too. We pared it down a bit.  
 
Chair Lee: I am comfortable with what Jill is explaining. Roselle, are you comfortable with 
the language in the original bill? 
 
Jill: The exemptions on the mock up on page 18, we allowed for the board to do that in a 
different section of the bill. The bill is so long because we are removing the ABA’s from the 
state board of Psychologists Examiners. We were tweaking the language in the state board 
of Integrative Health, and we are creating a chapter as well.  I believe it’s on page 14 of the 
mock up. We gave the board the power to create exemptions from regulations.  That would 
eliminate the requirement of having 43.64.05 and list all of those in Code. 
 
Sen. Anderson: Should we say exemptions from regulations or a variance may be better 
term?  
 
Jill: I believe exemption is often used. I have done that a fair amount so far. I believe 
exemption is appropriate, but I can look into that.  
 
Chair Lee: Variance means it will be different. Exemption can still be different. An exemption 
can be varied? (23.24) 
 
Sen. Anderson: When you make regulations, if there are things that are exempt, you need 
to state those when you make the regulations in the first place. A variance might be time 
specific.  It seems strange to make exemptions on regulations when your making regulations.  
 
Jill: I believe these exemptions are for people that are exempt from licensure completely.  
You can see there are quite a few people who teach behavioral analyst.  
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Sen. Kristin Roers: Would a better way to say this is to establish an exemption from 
licensure? It would be more clear. 
 
Jill: Yes, if you want to change the language on page 14 of the mock, that would be 
permissible. Unless the Attorney General has a problem.   
 
Dave Schible, Att. General Office: (14:40): If you want the person to not have the license, 
you want to say to be exempt from licensure. It is better to have the language that the two 
senators were proposing. (15.11) 
 
Sen. Anderson: Let’s use the terminology for licensure or registration to be consistent.    
 
Dave: I think the appropriate place would be in the section that deals with exemptions. This 
section 18 of the amendment is modifying 43.57.03. That statute may have the exemptions 
for licensure, also.  
 
Chair Lee: Would you rather than we say exemptions from licensure? 
 
Dave: What I could do is take this language back to the assistant attorney general that works 
with the board and see how it works with the board. If it doesn’t work, we can ensure they 
could come back and explain to you.  
 
Chair Lee:  On page 14, changing the word regulations to licensure. Should be include ‘or 
regulations’.   
 
Sen. Kristin Roers: Licensure or registration. 
 
Jill: I can also visit with Jen Clark and confirm with her interpretation.  
 
Sen. Hogan: There is something we need to look at. On the mock up on page 18, line 9-12. 
That whole reciprocity recognizing others on a temp license.  It goes back to that certifying 
entity to someplace else. I’m not sure where that should be in the bill.  
 
Jill: Can you repeat? 
 
Sen. Hogan: On page 18 of the mock up, lines 9-12. Also on page 20, lines 20-26. It is the 
temporary licensing stuff.  
 
Jill: On page 17 of the bill, that talks about certification - subdivision A on page 17 of the bill. 
I believe as it is written is getting towards what the mock up is saying.  
 
Sen. Hogan: The temporary license stuff? 
 
Jill: On page 20 of the mock up. I will look into that. I don’t think we talked about a temp 
license in our original bill draft, so I would have to look into that. (21.48) 
 
Chair Lee: Part of that is we did not know that Sen. Poolman was going to have SB2286. 
We thought we could incorporate that bill in ours to speed things up. She was not opposed. 
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Jill: I did not work on that particular draft, but I know who did so I will check back. We can 
look into the temporary license as well as page 14 on the state board for integrated health, 
looking at the language added for exemptions.  
 
Sen. Anderson: Sen.  Poolman’s bill calls it an expedited license and that is similar language 
used in SB 2306. I would consider maybe looking at that language but not really intending to 
be temporary, just means to get it as quick as possible.  
 
Jill: I will look at SB 2306 regarding the expedited language. 
 
Sen. Kristin Roers: Also know that there are no fewer than 3 bills for military spouses out 
there.  
 
(24:20-27:10) A discussion about duplicative bills ensued.  
 
Sen. Hogan: I want to make sure that what we talk about this morning that there won’t be 
any unintended consequences for the behavior related staff at the State Hospital, or nursing 
homes or schools that we don’t anticipate. 
 
Rosalie Ethrington, Department of Human Services: From what I hear we are regulating 
the certified behavioral analysts, that makes complete sense and that won’t interfere with any 
other practices, and will also not interfere the capacity for behavioral technicians, mental 
health technicians, CNAs, a variety of those folks that work in nursing homes, group homes, 
State Hospitals or LSTC to work under supervision of other in the change of behavior. 
 
Sen. Hogan: I just wanted to make sure that we’re all clear about that.  
 
Rosalie Ethrington: May we speak about the definition? Under the practice of behavior 
analysis; was that in the original statute? Do you understand it when you read it? I’m going 
to use language that is found on the American Psychological site in regards to behaviorism 
and behavioral analysis and on the site of the Certified Behavioral Analysts. Simply, the 
practice of behavioral analysis is the specific and comprehensive use of principles of 
learning. Which in regular terms is just behaviorism.  You could just simply say ‘behaviorism, 
including operant and respondent conditioning’ or ‘operant and respondent learning’. There 
are two types of learning, there is a whole set of principles around how to apply those things, 
but put simply it’s just the principles of operant and respondent learning, in order to address 
behavioral needs of individuals through a focus of observable behaviors and techniques, to 
learn new behaviors or reduce problem behaviors.  
 
Chair Lee: Do you think that fights with subsection 4 in section 22? 
 
Rosalie Ethrington: In my opinion, that although it may be even wordier than it has to be, it 
is at least explanatory, and can remain and still be aligned with what you will find on the site 
for certification or the site of the American Psychological Association. 
 
Chair Lee: Doesn’t this come from what the model legislation was? Can you explain that for 
us, Jill? 
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Jill: Yes, it did come from the model language. That is what we modeled it after, but with 
serious cuts, and style and form.  
 
Chair Lee: As long as Dr. Ethrington doesn’t see a conflict with that. I’d like to stick as close 
as we can to the model legislation, so reciprocity is enhanced.  
 
Rosalie Ethrington: That’s a good point. In my opinion, that speaks to what they really are 
and does not confuse anybody. I’m glad you used some stylistic change. 
 
Sen. Kristin Roers: Under powers and duties of the Board, Chapter 43.57-03, there was a 
proposed amendment that originally stated, ‘to establish any exemptions from regulations’ 
we didn’t like that word, they are a regulatory board, they shouldn’t get to exempt which 
regulations, we thought ‘to establish any exemptions from licensure or registration’ if there 
are certain times where they don’t need to be licensed, if that would be amenable language. 
 
Allyson Hicks, Assistant Attorney General, General Council, Board of Integrative 
Health: At this time, I don’t see any legal problem with that. This Board is set up a little 
strangely, in that it was originally established after the practice acts were established. The 
existing exemptions from licensure are in the specific scopes of practice. That’s why currently 
this board isn’t within the powers and duties of the Board. However, I do think that this would 
assist in regards to the behavioral analysts, it’s a new field, they’re going to have to work with 
members of that field to tailor the boards licensure and regulation process to meet that need.  
Because 43-57 is the integrative health board, it’s not the specific scope of practice, factually 
this will also apply to the other factions of the integrative health board; that is one of the 
ramifications of putting that into the integrative health board practice act as opposed to that 
specific practice act.  
 
Sen. Hogan: Do you see any problems with that? 
 
Allyson Hicks: No, I do not. It would be a beneficial change and allow the Board to operate 
more expediently. This is a strange creature of statute and has to tailor itself to different 
practices, this allows the Board to do that more efficiently.  
 
Sen. Hogan: In terms of the integrative health; because this is a group that has been licensed 
by another board prior, have you done that before? 
 
Allyson Hicks: My understanding is the Board has, but I have not. I was not the attorney at 
that time the Board was established. I believe this Board is much more well equipped to 
handle some of those transitions.  
 
Sen. Anderson: We are planning to incorporate SB 2286 which asks for expedited licensure, 
if they meet the qualifications, with your comments I was wondering if this was something 
that we could place so that all of your boards could do that. If we placed it in the right place 
would that make it easier for your boards to grant an expedited license if they met the criteria. 
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Allyson Hicks: There are general licensure procedures within 43-57 that would apply, so I 
do believe that if you wanted to tuck it in there, I think it would possibly fit, I don’t know the 
boards opinion on that. There is a statutory slot to slide it in there.   
 
Sen. Anderson: I don’t think Sen. Poolman spoke with them either, and I think that if we put 
something in there they all could utilize that. I think it could be a positive step.  
 
Allyson Hicks: I think that is entirely possible and I will speak with my board about where 
they want to put it and how to incorporate it. Putting it into statute indicates that they have 
the authority to do rules. 
 
Sen. Hogan: Tell me the five groups? 
 
Allyson Hicks: Currently, there are three: naturopaths, music therapists and acupuncturists  
 
Chair Lee: If the two of you feel like you would be rushed to get it together, we can put it on 
the schedule for Monday. The hearing was closed.  
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Madam Chair Lee opens the discussion on SB 2236. 
 
Madam Chair Lee: We will look at the amendment that was done for SB 2236. We have 
included the expedited procedure for licensure.  
 
Senator O. Larsen: I’m using the old bill; we are getting away from the yellow thing.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: Yes, we are working off of the .01000 version. We will be moving in, and 
I talked to Senator Poolman about this and she said that would be it and it sounded good to 
her.  
 
Senator Anderson: Do you want to move this right away? 
 
Madam Chair Lee: I’d be happy to unless anyone had any comments. 
 
Allyson Hicks, Assistant Attorney General representing the Board of Integrated 
Health: These amendments are fine. I think the board will be fine with it.  
 
Senator Hogan: I move to ADOPT AMENDMENT 19.0673.01002 
Seconded by Senator O. Larsen 
 
Senator Anderson: As I understand it now, it supplies to the Board of Integrated Health 
Care? 
 
Madam Chair Lee: Correct.  
 
Senator Anderson: Ok.  
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Madam Chair Lee: Any further discussion? 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE TAKEN 
6 YEA, 0 NAY, 0 ABSENT  
MOTION CARRIES TO ADOPT AMENDMENT 
 
Senator O. Larsen: I move a DO PASS, AS AMENDED. 
Seconded by Senator Hogan 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE TAKEN  
6 YEA, 0 NAY, 0 ABSENT  
MOTION CARRIES DO PASS, AS AMENDED 
Senator Anderson will carry SB 2236 to the floor.  
 
(05:20) Madam Chair Lee and the committee move on to SB 2286.   
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Chairman Weisz: Opened the hearing on SB 2236.  
 
Senator Judy Lee:  Introduced SB 2236. She stated there were two bills that dealt with 
behavioral analysts in our committee, SB 2286 and SB 2236, and we combined the two. SB 
2236 recommends a change in board oversight for the behavioral analysis professionals 
moving them from the Board of Psychologist to the Board of Integrative Health Care. We 
established that board for those professions for which there was not a large enough number 
in practice to be able to sustain their own board. This makes sure the licensing is covered 
appropriately. At the same time model legislation for the profession of Behavioral Analysists 
became available and it has been incorporated into SB 2236, it describes the various 
categories of the profession. The bill is deleting the part that is in the Board of Psychologist 
Examiners and placing it into the Integrative Health Care. We know how short we are to have 
these professionals in North Dakota, with the idea of adopting model legislation we have a 
better chance of reciprocity, which we felt would be an advantage to us. The benefits of the 
adopting are going to be licensing and reciprocity. On page 3 the ADA is removed from 
representation on the State Board of Psychologist Examiners and references to registrants 
and behavioral analyst is deleted throughout the bill and leaving it covering just the 
Psychologists. On page 14 Section 17 is the language putting the Behavioral Analysts into 
the Integrated Health Board. It is the umbrella board that integrates several professions. On 
line 29 the board can establish rules, to establish exemptions from regulations. Section 43-
64 is added beginning on page 16 which includes Licensed Assistant Behavioral Analyst and 
Licensed Behavioral Analyst. The practice is defined including what they cannot do. A license 
is required in order for a practioners to use the title Licensed Behavioral Analyst or Licensed 
Assistant Behavioral Analyst. Those currently licensed through December of 2019 will be 
grandfathered in. The effective date is January 1, 2020 to allow time to develop specific rules. 
This proposal is brought forward by an individual who hires Behavioral Analyst in the work of 
her business which serves the needs of individuals on the Autism spectrum. SB 2286 was 
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incorporated into this bill. That section on page 15 which calls for an expedited license to be 
available. It was in response to the fact that is was taking many months to get these licenses 
approved. We defeated SB 2286 to have everything in one bill.  
 
Rep. Tveit: On page 15 line 21 is all of bill SB 2286?  
 
Sen. Lee: I don’t recall but Sen. Poolman was pleased with the way we did this. This was 
prepared by Legislative Council in response to our request the purpose of SB 2286 was 
incorporated into this bill.  
 
Rep. Schneider: Do we know how many states have adopted this model of legislation and 
whether they include any of our neighbors?  
 
Sen. Lee: We were given the information during the committee hearing and I believe it was 
at least 20.   
 
Rep. Beadle: (Attachment #)1. He read his testimony.  
 
Jon Godfread, North Dakota Insurance Commissioner:  I am here to clarify and support. 
We have effectively removed the insurance rule for autism therapies. There is demand for 
this and our research and discussion with the autism community this was the number one 
issue outside of how do we get therapists to do this. We spoke with the Board of Psychiatry 
and it did not result in fruitful changes. We support this bill because there is needs out there.  
By not passing the mandate it left the door open to provide the most comprehensive coverage 
in the country for autism therapies.  South Dakota has a mandate in their law that says autism 
is a medical condition. So allowing that flexibility by not having the mandate allowed us to 
come to this conclusion and issue the bulletin which resulted in comprehensive coverage. 
 
Sandy Smith, Executive director ND Autism Center. Read his written testimony, 
(Attachment 2). There are 26 states that has adopted this model licensure act. There are 29 
states who have regulated licensure of Board Certified of Behavioral Analyst, 10 of the states 
have Behavioral Analysts licensing boards, one uses social work, one uses medicine, seven 
use the Board of Psychology Examiners in their state, seven are direct licenses issued by 
state agencies, such as Department of Commerce, Consumer Affairs, Health and Safety 
Professional Services, then there are three others that relate more to Mental Health and 
Human Services Board. So moving this to Integrated Health Care Board is very similar to 
some of the things they have done in the past. (0:29:03) 
 
Rep. Rohr: You mentioned there are 30 to 35 Licensed Behavioral Analysts in North Dakota 
today and on page 2 you indicate they can be either a Masters or Doctorate degree what is 
the breakdown in that 30 to 35 between Masters and Doctorate? What is the difference 
besides the years of education? 
 
Sandy Smith: There are three of the Doctorate BCBA’s. The rest are all Masters level 
degree. The ones that are PHD’s have focused on autism and ADA therapy, the 
Psychologists that have a BCBAD have focused on their doctorate education and residency 
on autism and applied behavioral analyst.   
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Rep. Rohr:  Do the three that have their Doctorate have their own independent practice? 
 
Sandy Smith: I know two of them work for established organizations in Fargo. One is in the 
western part of the state and I’m not sure where she works.   
 
Rep. Skroch: I received emails regarding the delay in licensures being approved and that 
the main causes were a misstep in the application process and the board cannot act upon 
incomplete applications. Is that part of the problem and with a change to this other board 
change that in any way? Or are we going to have the same problem?   
 
Sandy Smith:  Yes, I understand that there have been problems with paperwork. I had 
brought the application to the Senate it is four pages long and the print is so tiny that you can 
barely read it without a magnifying glass. It is an application for both Psychologist’s and Board 
Certified Behavioral Analysis candidates. It is very difficult to determine what question should 
I actually answer. Part of them are just for Psychology so it is very cumbersome. Some of 
the other professions that need licensing the application is one or two pages. So some of the 
questions don’t even apply to the Behavioral Analysis.  
 
Rep. Skroch: If you are completing it on line wouldn’t it seem more appropriate to fix the 
application process and separate those two categories of professional licensure? Rather than 
set up a different board rather than everything that goes along with that?   
 
Sandy Smith: We are not setting up a separate board, we are just moving it to a board that 
already exists. We have submitted feedback to the Board of Psychology over the years to 
change the application process and we haven’t gotten anywhere. An Anne Carlsen 
representative will also be speaking today and we are the two largest providers in the state 
and we have waiting lists of 40 to 50 people. We will never get to them without a faster 
process and being able to get these people through the licensure process or to recruit people 
from out of state. Today it is very difficult to get a license if you are from out of state.  
 
Taylor Hill, licensed BCBA, Anne Carlson’s Behavioral Health Group, Bismarck: Read 
his written testimony attachment 3. Regardless of which board licenses and regulates 
BCBA’s, all Board Behavioral Analysts are going to adhere strictly to our Code of Ethics and 
only provide the best evidence based practices. In moving to a board like Integrated Health 
Board allows more opportunities for BCBA’s to become members and to help regulations for 
other individuals. I think this is a huge opportunity to get other professionals from other states 
interested if they know people who are looking over their work are going to be in the same 
position. If we do want to have BCBA’s to provide services, this is a huge step and doing so 
in getting a board to conduct their own licenses and regulations.  
 
Holly Johnson, Licensed Board Certified Behavioral Analysts, Executive Board 
President for the North Dakota Association for Behavioral Analysis (NDABA). 
Attachment 4. Read her testimony in opposition.  
0:48:19) 
 
Rep. Schnieder: How many members are in your organization?  
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Holly Johnson: We have an annual conference every year and last year had 54. Some of 
those that attended were Occupational Therapist, Speech Pathologists.  
 
Rep. Schneider: The way that is structured I assume you were not able to poll those 
members before your board made that decision?  
 
Holly Johnson: Last fall Sandy Smith had reached out to me, as the NDABA President, and 
we have been working together on this bill. I have reached out as much as I can to get our 
membership involved and no one moved on anything. After it passed in the Senate I pushed 
hard for us to have an official stance as the state association for the profession so that is why 
we have an official stance at this committee hearing.  
 
Rep. Tveit: Do you agree the current licensing process and application is cumbersome and 
problematic? How much can that be fixed rather than create a new law?  
 
Holly Johnson: It is a tough process. I do supervise graduate students and I mentor them 
and help them through the licensure process. As Sandy mentioned it is one uniform 
application for Psychologists and Behavior Analysts. I don’t understand why they can’t create 
the software to have our own online process.  
 
Rep. Tveit: The delayed appointment to that board, can you address that in more detail? Is 
it an intentional delay or are there other reasons?   
 
Holly Johnson: I am not sure what the delay is. The first step that needed to happen did 
happen last session where we got Century Code to say that a Behavioral Analyst could be 
an appointed board member. The next hurdle was whoever was appointed had to hold their 
license for five years and the first ones licensed in 2012 became eligible in 2017, then there 
had to be a vacancy. The first licensed Behavioral Analyst sent their application to the 
Governor’s office several months ago expressing interest in that position.   
 
Rep. Skroch: In previous testimony there was expressed frustration about navigating 
through this cycle process, is that part of the delay? We have talked about why not split those 
applications and make the online process simpler, might that resolve some of the issues in 
the delays?  
 
Holly Johnson: I do believe it could be completed. The Board of Psychology Examiners 
outsources administrative duties, processes the applications and sends them to the board. 
There are definite flaws and I think there needs to be efforts to fix some of those things. I 
know Sandy and I have both provided feedback to the board but I don’t know what the 
catalyst will be to get that done.  
 
Rep. Skroch: Will shifting this licensing process to this other board, that will not fix this 
problem, correct? The application processing and working through the online provider for 
this.   
 
Holly Johnson: I believe the new board could make the application and administer it 
however they would want. So they could have the Administrative Code written and the rules 



House Human Services Committee  
SB 2236 
3/6/19 
Page 5  
   

written in a whole new way if we were to move. The application process now wouldn’t 
necessarily follow us.  
 
Rep. Rohr: Can you address the difference in the price of $650 for the Psychology Board 
and $250 for the Integrated Health one? You mentioned there were 2 of the 7 members who 
support this bill, could you share why they supported this? 
 
Holly Johnson: Mr. Hill testified supporting the bill and then I submitted written testimony on 
my own behalf that was supportive of the bill and the amendments we had proposed. I believe 
the fee is what the Psychologist have to pay for the application. I assume it is that board and 
that price.  
 
Rep. Devlin: Have you or any anyone of your group reached out to the Governor’s office to 
find out what the delay is in the appointment? 
 
Holly Johnson: NDABA hasn’t reached out. The person who has applied is a former NDABA 
board member and he has continually reached out, however I do not know what the reason 
was given. 
 
Chairman Weisz: Closed the hearing on SB 2236.   
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Chairman Weisz: Opened for committee work on SB 2236. Does anyone remember why 
Behavioral Analysts was put in with the Board of Psychology and not the Integrated Health?  
 
Rep. Porter: There was nowhere else to put them. They were there before Integrated Health 
existed.  
 
Chairman Weisz: Did we establish them before we got Integrated Health?  
 
Rep. Porter: The Psychologist came in and there was a bill in the early 2000 that created 
them as a component of the Board of Psychology.  
 
Chairman Weisz: They should have been in the Board of Integrated Health to start with.  
 
Rep. Porter: They have always considered themselves a working partner of the 
Psychologists. It seems like there are some folks who don’t want to be there anymore.  
 
Rep. Tveit: Is it some that don’t want to be there anymore? Or some that don’t want them to 
be there anymore? 
 
Chairman Weisz: There seems to be some issue with some with the board, there’s no 
question with that. The question for us is to we want to move them to the Board of Integrated 
Health, leave them the way it is or try to fix a couple of things?  
 
Rep. Schneider: They made a compelling case about delays, about the fees, about the 
responsiveness to them as a group, about the application and a number of other areas. It 
could be fixed by moving them to Integrated Health. Made a do pass motion.  
 
Rep. Anderson: Second the motion.  
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Rep. Ruby: This bill doesn’t require a spot on the new board for the Behavioral Health does 
it?  
 
Chairman Weisz:  Yes it does, in 43-57. 
 
Rep. Tveit: I am going to vote against this, it’s two groups that aren’t getting along that need 
to work it out amongst themselves.  
 
Vote yes 9, no 4, absent 1.  
 
Rep. Porter: Will carry the bill.  
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TESTIMONY IN SUPPORT OF SENATE BILL 2236 - LI CENSURE AND REGULATION 
OF BEHAVIOR ANALYSTS 

Sandy Smith, Executive Director 
North Dakota Autism Center, Inc. 
647 13th Ave E, Ste A, West Fargo, ND 58078 
701-367-9855 

Chairman Lee and Senate Human Services Committee Members, my name is Sandy Smith. I am 
a co-founder, President and Executive Director of the North Dakota Autism Center, Inc. in West 
Fargo. I am testifying in support of Senate Bill 2236 with amendments and recommendations. 
My 16 year old son was diagnosed with autism at 22 months old and I have spent the last 14 
years advocating for him and other individuals with autism to have access to life changing 
applied behavior analysis (ABA) therapy. I have been involved in ND behavior analyst licensure 
law since the 2011 legislative session when at my urging Chairman Lee introduced a bill to 
establish the first licensure law. The bill passed and has been amended several times and the 
administrative rules have evolved over the years. 

Over the last two years ND Medicaid and all ND insurance companies are now offering coverage 
for ABA Therapy. This has dramatically increased the demand for providers in ND and has 
called attention to the fact that getting certified professionals through the licensure process in a 
timely manner has become a significant challenge under current licensure law. It is also 
significantly disparate to other like professions as such as speech and language pathologists, 
occupational therapists and physical therapists. The process to get licensure as a behavior analyst 
is cumbersome, redundant and takes significantly longer than like professions. Once speech and 
language pathologists, occupational therapists and physical therapists complete their applications 
for licensure it takes weeks to get their license versus the months it takes for behavior analysts. I 
have included a document titled "Comparison of Professional Licensure" as part of this 
testimony that you can review. 

Although North Dakota's current behavior analyst licensure law requires professionals to be 
certified by the Behavior Analyst Certification Board (BACB) the ND Board of Psychologist 
Examiners has candidates repeating processes and submitting information that the BACB 
requires before candidates can even sit for the exam. There are also requirements for 
endorsements and an oral exam that is offered only 4 times per year that can add months to the 
process. 

Senate Bill 2236 is modeled after the Association of Professional Behavior Analysts Model 
Licensure Act. In this model act, current certification by the Behavior Analyst Certification 
Board (BACB) is the principal requirement for obtaining and maintaining licenses. The 
BACB's Professional and Ethical Compliance Code of Behavior Analysts is incorporated as the 
code of conduct for individuals licensed under this Act. 

Sandra Smith - Testimony Senate Bill 2236 
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The demand for licensed behavior analysts in ND greatly exceeds the supply. There are currently 

· approximately 30 licensed behavior analysts in ND. Using data from the North Dakota 
Departm�nt of Public Instruction in 2017 there were 1,311 students ages 3-21 with an autism 
diagnosis in the public school system. Applying the 2016 to 2017 growth rate to 2019 there are 
very likely more than 1,500 children with autism in ND schools. What is even more concerning 
is that there are many children who are diagnosed before age three and this also does not address 
the many individuals over 21 years of age. ND needs well over 100 licensed behavior analysts to 
address just the needs of the children in our state and many more to address the adult population. 
That is why Senate Bill 2236 is so important. 

After reviewing Senate Bill 2236 I sought feedback and suggestions from Gina Green, PhD, 
BCBA-D, CEO, Association Professional Behavior Analysts, ND Association of Behavior 
Analysts, ND Autism Spectrum Disorder Advocacy Coalition, other provider agencies and 
individual licensed behavior analysts. As a result, we would like to submit the included list of 
Amendments and Recommendations. 

Sandra Smith - Testimony Senate Bill 2236 
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Sixty-sixth 
Legis lative Assembly 
of North Dakota 

I ntroduced by 

Senators J. Lee ,  Anderson 

Representative Beadle 

SENATE BILL NO. 2236 

1 A B I LL for an  Act to create and enact chapter 43-64 of the North Dakota Century Code, relat ing 

2 to the l icensure and regu lation of behavior analyst professiona ls ;  to amend and reenact 

3 sections 43-32-0 1 ,  43-32-02 , 43-32-08 , 43-32-08 . 1 , 43-32-08.2 ,  43-32-09,  43-32-1 2 , 43-32- 1 3 , 

4 43-32-1 4 , 43-32- 1 6 , 43-32-1 7 ,  43-32- 1 9 . 1 ,  43-32-20,  43-32-27 ,  43-32-27 . 1 ,  43-32-30
) 

43-57-0 1 , 

5 43-57-03 ,  and 43-57-06, subsection 2 of section 43-57-07, and section 43-57- 1 1 ,  re lating to the 

6 regu lation of appl ied behaviora l  analysts of psychologist examiners and to the board of 

7 integrative health care ;  to provide a penalty; and to provide an effective date .  

8 BE IT ENACTED BY TH E LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF NORTH DAKOTA: 

9 SECTION 1 .  AMENDMENT. Section 43-32-0 1 of the North Dakota Century Code is 

1 0  amended and reenacted as fol lows : 

1 1  43-32-01 . Defi n it ions. 

1 2  1 .  "Applied behavior analyst" means an individual licensed under this chapter as an 

1 3  

1 4  

applied behavior analyst. The term docs not include a registered applied behavior 

analyst. 

1 5  2-: "Board"  means the North Dakota state board of psycholog ist examiners .  

1 6  3-:2. " I ndustria l-organ izational  psychologist" means an indiv idual who is l icensed under th is 

1 7  chapter to engage i n  the practice of i ndustrial-organ izational psychology. 

1 8 4:-3. " I ndustrial-organizational psychology" means the provision of psycholog ical  research 

1 9  

20 

2 1  

22 

services or consu ltation services to a group or an organ ization .  The term does not 

inc lude the del ivery or supervis ion of services to i nd iv iduals who are themselves , 

rather than the group or organ ization ,  the intended benefic iaries of the services, 

regardless of the source or extent of payment for services rendered .  

23 M. " I ndustria l-organ izationa l  psychology resident" means an  ind iv idual who has met the 

24 requ i rement of subd ivision b of subsection 2 of section 43-32-20,  is involved in 
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supervised employment in industrial-organ izational psychology, and has registered 

with the board .  

3 6-:-5. "Licensee" means an industria l-organ izational  psychologist, an applied behavior 

4 analyst, or a psychologist. 

5 7-: "Practice of applied behavior analysis": 

6 

7 

8 

9 

1 0  

1 1  

1 2  

1 3  

1 4  

1 5  

1 6  

1 7  

1 8  

1 9  

20 

2 1  

a- Means the application of the principles, methods, and procedures of the 

experimental analysis of behavior and applied behavior analysis, including 

principles of operant and respondent learning . The term includes applications of 

those principles, methods, and procedures to: 

fB Design, supervise, evaluate, and modify treatment programs to change the 

behavior of individuals diagnosed 'Nith an autism spectrum disorder; 

f2-) Design, supervise, evaluate, and modify treatment programs to change the 

behavior of individuals; 

� Design, supervise, evaluate, and modify treatment programs to change the 

behavior of groups; and 

� Consult with individuals and organizations.  

&.- The term does not include diagnosis, counseling, psychological testing, 

personality assessment, intellectual assessment, neuropsychological 

assessment, psychotherapy, cognitive therapy, sex therapy, family therapy, 

coordination of care , psychoanalysis, hypnotherapy, and long term counseling as 

treatment modalities. 

22 8-:-6. "Practice of psychology" means the observation ,  description , evaluation ,  interpretation , 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

3 1  

o r  mod ification of human behavior by the app l ication of psychologica l  pri nciples, 

methods ,  and procedures for the purpose of preventing  or e l im inating symptomatic ,  

maladaptive, or undesired behavior and enhancing interpersonal  relationsh ips ,  work 

and l ife adjustment, persona l  effectiveness, behaviora l  health , and mental health .  The 

term includes psychologica l  testing and the evaluat ion or assessment of personal  

characteristics, such as intel l igence, persona l ity, ab i l it ies, interests , aptitudes, and 

neuropsycholog ica l function ing;  counse l ing ,  psychothe rapy, biofeedback, behavior 

analysis and therapy, cl in ical appl ications of hypnos is ,  and other therapeutic 

techn iques based on psychologica l  princip les;  d iagnosis and treatment of mental and 
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emotional d isorder or d isabi l ity, compuls ive d isorders ,  d isorders of habit or conduct as 

wel l  as of the psychologica l  aspects of physical i l l ness , accident ,  injury, or d isabi l ity; 

and psychoeducational evaluation , therapy, remediation ,  and consu ltation . The term 

includes provid ing psychological services to ind ividua ls ,  fami l ies, groups, 

organ izations,  institutions,  and the publ ic regard less of whether payment is received 

for services rendered. The term includes supervising  others who a re engaged in the 

practice of psychology. 

8 9-:7. "Psychologist" means an ind ividual who is l icensed u nder this chapter in the practice 

9 of psychology. 

1 0  4-G:-8. "Psychology resident" means an individual who is reg istered by the board and is 

1 1  actively engaged i n  supervised practice .  

1 2  44:- "Registered applied behavior analyst" OF "registrant" means an individual who is 

1 3  

1 4  

1 5  

registered under this chapter as a registered applied behavior analyst and is 

supervised by a psychologist or applied behavior analyst. The term does not include 

an applied behavior analyst. 

1 6  4--2-:-9. "School or col lege" means any un iversity or other institution of h igher learn ing which is 

1 7  accred ited by a regional accred iting association , offering a fu l l-time graduate course of 

1 8  study in  industrial-organ izational psychology; or psychology, or applied behavior 

1 9  analysis, as appropriate. 

20 SECTION 2. AMENDMENT. Section 43-�2-02 of the North Dakota Century Code is 

2 1  amended and  reenacted as  fol lows :  

22 43-32-02. State board of  psycholog ist examiners - How appoi nted - Qual ifi cations. 

23 The governor sha l l  appo int a state board of psychologist examiners consisting of seven 

24 members ,  a l l  of whom are residents of the state . One board member must be designated a 

25 pub l ic  member who is a resident of  th is  state , is at  least twenty-one years of  age ,  and is not 

26 affi l iated with any group or profession that provides or regu lates health care i n  any form . Of the 

27 remain ing s ix board members, at least one member must be engaged primari ly i n  provid ing 

28 service in  psychology or applied behavior analysis, and at  least one member must be engaged 

29 primari ly i n  teach ing ,  tra in ing , or research in  psychology OF applied behavior analysis. Except 

30 the publ ic member, each member must be  l icensed under this chapter for a t  least five years . 
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1 SECTION 3. AMENDMENT. Section _43-32-08 of the North Dakota Century Code is 

2 amended and reenacted as fol lows: 

3 43-32-08. Rules.  

4 The board may adopt ru les as necessary to enable the board to carry into effect the 
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5 provisions of this chapter. The ru les may inc lude a code of ethics for l icensees and registrants. 

6 The board sha l l  adopt ru les defin ing what programs of study are substantia l ly psychological i n  

7 nature;- and what educational programs are acceptable for the l icensing of psychologists afte-

8 applied behavior analysts and for registering registered applied behavior analysts; and WAat-

9 educational programs are acceptable for the licensing of industrial-organ izational psycholog ists . 

1 0 SECTION 4. AMENDMENT. Section 43-32-08. 1 of the North Dakota Centu ry Code is  

1 1 amended and reenacted as fol lows : 

1 2  43-32-08. 1 . Continu ing education requ i rements. 

1 3 The board sha l l  adopt ru les establ ish ing requ i rements for the continu ing education of a l l  

1 4 l icensees ,  psychology residents, registrants, and industrial-organ izational psychology res idents . 

1 5 The board may refuse to renew, suspend ,  revoke , or p lace on probationary status any l icense 

1 6 or registration issued under this chapter if the l i censee or registrant fai ls to meet appl icable 

1 7 continu ing education requirements .  Sponsors of continu ing education courses ,  classes ,  or 

1 8 activ i t ies may be charged a reasonable fee determ i ned by the board . 

1 9 S ECTION 5. AMENDMENT. Section 43-32-08 .2 of the North Dakota Century Code i s  

20 amended and reenacted as fol lows : 

2 1  43-32-08.2. Continu ing education requ i rements - Renewal .  

22 Absent a showing of good cause , the board may not  renew a l icense or registration issued 

23 unde r th is  chapter without proof the continu ing education requ i rements under section 

24 43-32-08 . 1  h ave been met. An ind iv idual whose l i cense or registration is not renewed because 

25 of fai l u re to meet the continu ing education requ i rements must be re instated and the l icense eF-

26 registration renewed if, with in one year from the date of nonrenewal ,  the ind iv i dua l  

27 demonstrates to the secretary of the board the continu ing education requ i rements have been 

28 satisfied ,  pays the renewal fee , and pays a late fee to  be determined by ru le of  the board . 

29 SECTION 6. AMENDMENT. Section 43-32-09 of  the North Dakota Century Code i s  

30 amended and reenacted as fol lows : 
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1 7  

1 8  

1 9  
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21 

22 

23 

24 

25 
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27 
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43-32-09 .  Examination of qual ifications of appl icants. 

The board shal l  examine for, deny, approve, revoke, suspend , and renew the l icensing aoo
registration of appl icants as provided under this chapter. 

SECTION 7. AMENDMENT. Section 43-32-1 2  of the North Dakota Century Code is 

amended and reenacted as fol lows : 

43-32-1 2 .  Appl ication and fee for l icensure and registration. 

The board shal l  adopt ru les establ ish ing the amount of the appl ication fee for l icensure aoo
registration. A fee is not refundable .  

SECTION 8 .  AMENDMENT. Section 43-32- 1 3  of the North Dakota Century Code is 

amended and reenacted as fol lows : 

43-32-1 3 .  Annual  l icense and registration fee. 

Annual ly, the board shal l  mai l  or transmit by electronic mai l  a renewal notice and appl ication 

to each l icensee and registrant at the address or electron ic mail address on fi le with the board .  

Before November fifteenth of each year, every l icensee and registrant shal l  apply for renewal on 

a renewal appl ication form provided by the board and pay to the secretary of the board an 

annua l  fee determined by the board by ru le. Upon confi rmation by the board the renewal 

appl ication is com plete, the criteria for renewal have been met, and the secretary of the board 

has received payment of the annual  fee,  the secretary sha l l  issue the l icensee or registrant a 

certificate of annua l  renewal ,  wh ich commences on January first. An ind ividual  may not hold out 

as an industria l-organ izational psycholog ist, an applied behavior analyst, a registered applied 

behavior analyst, or  a psycholog ist unt i l  the annual  fee is paid . The board may deny renewal of 

the l icense or registration of an ind iv idual who violates th is section .  Annual ly, the board shal l  

mai l  or electronical ly mai l  a renewal notice to each l icensee and registrant at the address or  

electronic mai l  add ress on fi le with the board . 

SECTION 9. AMENDMENT. Section 43-32- 1 4  of the North Dakota Century Code is 

amended and reenacted as fol lows : 

43-32-14. Payment of del inquent annual fee - Reinstatement. 

I f  an indiv idual 's l icense or registration issued under th is chapter expires for fa i l u re to pay 

the a nnual fee ,  the board shal l  rei nstate that ind ividual and renew the l icense or registration if, 

with i n  one year  from the date of exp iration , the ind ividua l  pays to the secretary of the board the 

amount of the annua l  fees in  defau lt and a late fee in  the amount estab l ished by the board by 
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1 ru l� and demonstrates a l l  conti nu ing education requ irements have been met or the board has 

2 granted an extension of the period in wh ich to meet the continu ing education requ i rements. 

3 SECTION 1 0. AMENDMENT. Section 43-32- 1 6  of the North Dakota Century Code is 

4 amended and reenacted as follows: 

5 43-32-1 6. Board to keep records.  

6 1 . The board shal l  keep a record of its proceed ings and a reg ister of a l l  appl icants for 

7 l i cens ing or registration wh ich must show: 

8 

9 

1 0  

1 1  

1 2  

1 3  

1 4  

1 5  

1 6  

a .  The name,  date of  birth , and residence of  each app l icant. 

b. The date of each appl icant's appl ication .  

c .  The place of business of each appl icant. 

d .  A s ummary of the educational and other qual ifications o f  each appl icant. 

e. Whether an examination was requ i red of an appl icant .  

f. Whether a l icense or registration was granted to an appl icant .  

g .  The date of the action of the board . 

h .  A n y  i nformation the board determines necessary or advisable in  a i d  o f  the 

requ i rements of this subsection .  

1 7  2 .  Except as otherwise provided b y  law, the records of the board are publ ic records and 

1 8  evidence of the proceedings of the board ,  and a transcript of board proceed ings, du ly 

1 9  certified by the secretary of the board is admissible i n  evidence with the same effect 

20 as if the  orig ina l  were produced . 

2 1  SECTIO N  1 1 .  AMENDMENT. Section 43-32- 1 7  of the North Dakota Century Code is 

22 amended and reenacted as fol lows : 

23 43-32-1 7 .  L icense requi red for practice - Titles. 

24 1 .  Except as  otherwise provided under this chapter, a person may not engage in  the 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

3 1  

practice of psychology unless that person i s  l icensed a s  a psychologist o r  i s  registered 

as a psychology resident under this chapter. Except as otherwise provided by th is 

chapter, a person may not engage i n  the practice of industria l-organ izationa l  

psychology un less that person is l icensed as a psycholog ist or 

i ndustria l-organizational psychologist or is reg istered as a psychology resident or 

industria l -organizational psychology resident under this chapter. Except as otherwise 

provided under this chapter, a person may not engage in the practice of applied 
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behavior analysis unless that person is a license� or is registered and supervised as 

an applied behavior analyst as provides under this chapter. 

3 2 .  A person may not use the title "psychologist" or  s imi lar title un less that person is 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

1 0  

l icensed as a psycholog ist. A person may not use the titles " industria l  psychologist" , 

"organ izational psycholog ist" , or " industrial-organ izational  psycholog ist" u nless that 

person is l icensed as a psychologist or industria l-organizational psychologist .  A person 

may not use the title "licensed applied behavior analyst" or similar title unless that 

person is an applied behavior analyst. A person may not use the title "registered 

applied behavioral analyst" or similar title unless that person is registered and 

supervised as a registered applied behavior analyst. 

1 1  3 .  A person may not use the title "psychology resident" or s imi lar  title un less that person 

1 2  is registered as a psychology resident. A person may not use the titles " industria l  

1 3  psychology resident" ,  "organizational psychology resident" , or 

1 4  " industria l-organizational  psychology resident" un less that person is reg istered as a 

1 5  psychology resident or industria l-organ izationa l  psychology resident. 

1 6  SECTION 1 2. AMENDMENT. Section 43-32- 1 9 . 1  of the North Dakota Century Code is 

1 7  amended and reenacted as fol lows : 

1 8  43-32-1 9 .1 . Expedited l icensure - Licensing or registering appl icants l icensed or 

1 9  reg istered i n  other jurisd ictions. 

20 1 .  The board may grant a l icense or registration to an appl icant who is an  ind ividua l  

2 1  

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

l icensed , certified,  or registered in another jurisdiction and who fi les a completed 

appl ication on a form and in a manner the board prescribed , submits the requ i red fee ,  

and  submits documentation:  

a .  Confi rming graduation from an accred ited program i n  the degree of  l i censurc er 

registration for which the i ndividual is applying i n  th is state; 

b. Confirming completion of a national examination requ i red by the board related to 

competence in psychology or applied behavior analysis; 

c. Identifying al l  professional l icenses, certifications ,  or reg istrations previously 

obta ined by the appl icant i n  any jurisd iction ;  
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1 d .  Expla in ing any professional o r  personal  conduct that reasonably may be 
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3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

interpreted as ind icating an inabi l ity to aahere to this chapter, inc luding the code 

of eth ical conduct adopted by the board ; and 

e .  Provid ing the board with a release by wh ich the  board may obtain from the 

appl icant's current jurisd iction , confi rmation of the educationa l  degree the 

appl icant's l icensure or reg istration requ i red , documentation of any d iscipl inary 

action related to the appl icant's l icense or registration,  and an  explanation of al l  

levels in the appl icant's profession the current j u risd iction l icenses or reg isters . 

9 2 .  As  a cond it ion to qual ify for  l icensure or registration under  subsect ion 1 ,  t he  board 

1 0  

1 1  

1 2  

1 3  

may requ i re the appl icant pass an examination on the eth ics , laws, and ru les 

regu lat ing the practice of psychology, or ind ustr ia l-organ izat iona l psycho logy,--eF

applied behavior analysis, as appropr iate to the l icensurc or registration sought by the 

app l ican t. 

1 4  3 .  Notwithstand ing any contrary prov is ion of th is chapter, the board may issue a l icense 

1 5  or registration as authorized under chapter 43-5 1 . 

1 6  4 .  The board may grant a provis iona l  l icense or registration to an exped ited l i censu re 

1 7  

1 8  

1 9  

20 

2 1  

22 

23 

app l icant wh i le the appl ication is pend ing . The board may grant a provisional 

registration to an individual who is applying for registration as an applied behavior 

analyst if the individual is certified by a professional organization that is identified by 

the board by rule. The board may deny or p lace restrictions on a provisiona l l icense er-

registration under this subsection if in another jur isd ict ion , with in the previous five 

yea rs ,  the appl icant had a d iscip l i nary act ion aga inst the appl icant's l icense or 

reg istration . 

24 5 .  Except as otherwise prov ided under this chapter, and in accordance with ru les 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

adopted by the board , the board may issue a l imited practice cert ificate to an app l icant 

who is l icensed or registered in another ju risd iction to practice psycho logy, or 

industria l -organ izationa l psycho logy, or applied behavior analysis. A l im ited pract ice 

certificate issued under th is subsection authorizes the practice of psycho logy, QL 

industria l-organ izationa l psycho logy, or applied behavior analysis i n  this state for no 

more than th irty days in a ca lendar year. 
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SECTION 1 3. AMENDMENT. Section 43-32-20 of the North Dakota Century Code is 

amended and reenacted as fol lows : 

43-32-20. Licens ing - Written and oral examination - Qual ifications of appl icants. 

The board may issue a l i cense or registration to each appl icant who fi les a com pleted 

appl ication upon a form and in a manner the board prescribes , submits the requ i red fee, and 

meets the requ i rements of  subsection 1 ,  or 2,--ef-3. 

7 1 .  An appl icant for l icensure as a psycholog ist shal l  demonstrate a l l  of the fol lowing :  

8 

9 

1 0  

1 1  

1 2  

1 3  

1 4  

1 5  

1 6  

1 7  

1 8  

a.  The appl icant wi l l  adhere to the code of eth ical conduct adopted by the board by 

rule. 

b .  The appl icant has received , from a school or col lege, a doctorate degree i n  a 

program that is  accred ited as a doctoral program i n  psychology by a n  accred iti ng 

body approved by the board by ru le. 

c. The appl icant has passed the examinations, written or ora l ,  or both , as  the board 

determines necessary. 

d .  The appl icant has  completed at least two fu l l  years o f  supervised professiona l  

experience, one year of wh ich must be an i nternsh ip program,  and one year  of 

which may be postdoctora l .  Both years of experience must comply with the 

board's ru les. 

1 9  2. An appl icant for l icensure as an industrial-organ izational psycholog ist shal l  

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

3 1  

demonstrate a l l  of the fol lowing :  

a .  The appl icant wi l l  adhere to the code of eth ica l  conduct adopted by the board by 

rule.  

b .  The appl icant has received , from a school or col lege, a doctorate degree i n  a 

program of stud ies accred ited by an accredit ing body approved by the board by 

rule. 

c .  The appl icant has passed the examinations, written or ora l ,  or  both , as  the board 

determines necessary. 

d .  The appl icant has  completed the professional experience requ i rements 

establ ished by the board . The requirements may not exceed the professional 

experience requ i rements for psychologists . If the professional experience 

requ i rements inc lude a supervised experience requ i rement: 
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( 1 ) The board must a l low an appl icant to submit to the board a p�rsonal ized 

plan for supervised experience which may include d istance-supervis ion by a 

qua l ified industria l -organ izationa l  psycholog ist. 

(2 ) The board may adopt ru les to establ ish who is qua l ified to perform 

supervision ,  supervis ion requ i rements, and reporting .  

6 3-:- An applicant for licensure as an applied behavior analyst or registration as a registered 

7 

8 

9 

1 0  

1 1  

1 2  

1 3  

1 4  

applied behavior analyst shall: 

a:- Submit written documentation confirming the applicant \Viii adhere to the code of 

ethical conduct adopted by the board by rule. 

tr.- Demonstrate the applicant meets board approved education requirements 

adopted by the board by rule. 

e-:- Demonstrate the applicant passed examinations demonstrating professional 

competence adopted by the board by rule. 

El-:- Provide documentation indicating the applicant has established supervision 

1 5  requirements as determined by the board by rule. The board's rule must allo•.v for 

1 6  supervision of board certified behavioral analysts by professionals with equivalent 

1 7  or greater training. 

1 8  SECTION 1 4. AM ENDMENT. Section 43-32-27 of the North Dakota Century Code is 

1 9  amended and  reenacted as fol lows : 

20 43-32-27. Denia l  - Revocation or  suspension of  l icense or registration - Grounds. 

2 1  1 .  The board ,  after notice, hearing ,  and an affirmative vote of at least a majority of board 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

members ,  may withhold ,  deny, revoke , or suspend any l icense or registration issued or 

appl ied for under this chapter and may otherwise discip l ine a l icensee, a registrant, or 

an  app l ica nt upon proof the appl icant, registrant, or l icensee: 

a .  Has been convicted of a n  offense determined b y  the board to have a d i rect 

bearing upon an  ind ividual 's ab i l ity to serve the publ ic i n  the practice of 

psychology or applied behavior analysis, or if the board finds, after the conviction 

of any  offense, that an ind ividual  is not sufficiently rehabi l itated under section 

1 2 . 1 -33-02 . 1 .  

b .  Is  unab le to practice psychology or applied behavior analysis with reasonable 

ski l l  and safety to cl ients or patients by reason of i l l ness , i nebriation , m isuse of 
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1 1  

1 2  

1 3  

1 4  

1 5  

1 6  

1 7  

1 8  

1 9  

20 

21 
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drugs, narcotics, a lcohol , chemicals ,  or any other substance ,  or as a result of any 

mental or physical condition . 

c .  Has impersonated another i ndividual  ho ld ing a l icense or registration issued 

under th is chapter or al lowed another person to use the l icensee's l i cense eF

registration. 

d .  Has used fraud or deception i n  applying for a l icense or registration o r  in taking 

an examination under th is chapter. 

e .  Has al lowed the l icensee's or registrant's name or  l i ce nse or registration issued 

under th is chapter to be used in connection with any person who performs 

psycholog ical or applied behavior analysis services outside of the area of that 

person's tra in ing ,  experience, or competence. 

f. I s  legally adjud icated insane or mental ly incompetent. The record of the 

adjud ication is conclusive evidence of that fact. 

g .  Has engaged i n  any  form of  unethical conduct as  defined i n  the code of eth ical 

conduct adopted by the board by ru le. 

h. Has become grossly negl igent in  the practice of psychology or applied behavior 

analysis. 

i .  Has  wi l lfu l ly or neg l igently violated this chapter. 

j .  Has engaged i n  an act in violation of  ru les adopted by the board . 

k. Has had a l icense or registration revoked or suspended or was d iscip l ined in 

another jurisd iction .  

22  2 .  The board sha l l  state i n  writing the board's reason for denying a l icense or registration. 

23 3. The board may assess costs incurred by the board related to investigations and 

24 

25 

discip l inary actions. By ru le, the board may set fees or fines,  not to exceed five 

hundred dol lars ,  for m inor infractions of this chapter. 

26 4. An ind ividua l  whose l icense or registration has been revoked under this section may 

27 

28 

not reapply for l icensure or registration for at  least two years after the date of 

revocation . 

29 5 .  Other than the term " in good standing",  by ru le ,  the board sha l l  define terms related to 

30 l icense status, such as "revoked" ,  "suspended", " inactive", and "probationary" . 
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1 SECTION 1 5. AMENDMENT. Section 43-32-27. 1  of the North Dakota Century Code is  

2 amended and  reenacted as fol lows : 

3 43-32-27. 1 . Complaints - Investigations. 

4 1 . A person aggrieved by the actions of a l icensee, registrant, or psycho logy resident 

5 

6 

7 

8 

may fi le  a written statement with the board citi ng the specific a l legations  of 

m isconduct. The board shal l  notify the l icensee, registrant, or psychology resident of 

the a l legation and request a written response. The board may establ ish procedural 

exceptions for processing mult iple a l legations from the same person . 

9 2 .  The board shal l  determine i f  the information i n  an al legation warrants i nvestigation as 

1 0  

1 1  

1 2  

a compla int, without requiring the source of the information to be made a matter of 

pub l ic record , if the board concludes that good cause exists for preserving the 

confidential ity of the source. 

1 3  3 .  A l icensee, registrant, o r  psychology resident who i s  the subject of an i nvestigation by 

1 4  

1 5  

1 6  

1 7  

1 8  

the board shal l  cooperate fu l ly  with the investigation .  Cooperation inc ludes responding 

fu l ly  and promptly to any reasonable question ra ised by or on behalf of the board 

relat ing to the subject of the investigation and provid ing copies of patient o r  cl ient 

records if reasonably requested by the board and accompanied by the appropriate 

release . 

1 9  4 .  I n  order  to  pursue an investigation,  the  board may subpoena and  examine witnesses 

20 

2 1  

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

and  records ,  incl ud ing patient and c l ient records ,  and may copy, photograph,  or take 

samples of the records .  The board may requ i re the l icensee, registrant, or psychology 

res ident to g ive statements under oath,  to submit to a physical or psycholog ical 

examination ,  or both , by a physician or other qua l ified evaluation profess iona l  selected 

by the board ,  if requ i ri ng an examination is in the best interest of the pub l ic .  The 

patient and  cl ient records released to the board are not publ ic records .  The board may 

adopt ru les to assign ,  define duties, and compensate an investigator to assist the 

board to process a complaint. 

28 5. U n less a patient or cl ient release is on fi le a l lowing the release of information  at the 

29 

30 

3 1  

pub l ic  hearing ,  patient and cl ient records acqu i red by the board i n  the board's 

investigation are confidential and closed to the publ ic. Al l board meetings at which 

patient or cl ient testimony or records are taken or reviewed are confident ia l  and closed 
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to the publ ic .  If patient or cl ient testimony or records are not taken or reviewed , the 

remainder of the meeting is an open meeting un less a specific  exemption is otherwise 

appl icable . 

SECTION 1 6. AMENDMENT. Section 43-32-30 of the North Dakota Century Code is 

amended and reenacted as follows: 

43-32-30. Persons exempt from this chapter. 

This chapter does not apply to: 

8 1 .  A student or i ntern pursu ing a course of study in psychology, QL 

9 

1 0  

1 1  

1 2  

1 3  

1 4  

1 5  

1 6  

1 7  

i ndustria l-organ izational psychology, or applied behavior analysis at a school or  

col lege, if the activities and services are a part of the ind ividua l 's supervised cou rse of 

study and are under the supervision of a l icensed psycholog ist who meets the requ i red 

supervision and continu ing education requ i rements and demonstrates competency in 

the a rea of the student's or intern's practice, or industrial-organ izational  psychologist, 

or applied behavior analyst. The student or intern may not use the title "psychologist", 

or " industria l -organ izational psychologist" , "licensed behavior analyst" , or "registered 

applied behavior analyst" . The student or intern status and the supervisor must be 

clearly  stated . 

1 8  2 .  A lecturer, from any school or col lege, who uses an academic or  research tit le when 

1 9  

20 

21 

lecturing  to institutions or organ izations. However, the lecturer may not engage i n  the 

practice of psychology, applied behavior analysis, or i ndustrial-organ izational 

psychology un less the lecturer is l icensed or reg istered under th is chapter. 

22 3 .  An ind ividual  employed by  a publ ic school i f  that indiv idua l 's activities and services are 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

restricted to the practice of psychology in the district or  service un it of employment. 

This exemption appl ies only if the ind ividual  has received a master's degree i n  school 

psychology from an accred ited graduate tra in ing program.  Standards  must be 

establ ished by mutual consent of the board and the education standards and practices 

board .  

28 4 .  A personAn ind ividual certified , l icensed , or reg istered in  th is state in  another health 

29 

30 

31 

care profession ,  or as a member of the clergy function ing i n  a min isterial capacity, 

whose scope of practice is consistent with the accepted standards of that 

person'sind ividual 's profession . A person/\n individual  c laiming an  exemption under 
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th is subsection may not represent to be render ing psychological or appliE?d behavior 

analysis services. 

if te . 11-

3 5 .  A personAn ind ividual employed by an  agency, a nonprofit corporation ,  or  an institution 

4 

5 

6 

7 

if that person ind iv idual  is currently exempt from l i censure. A pcrsonAn ind iv idual  

exempt under th is subsection continues to be exempt if the personind ividua l  continues 

employment in the same position with the agency, nonprofit corporation ,  or institution 

that appl ied for and received the exemption .  

8 67 An individual providing applied behavior analysis services to an individual in a public 

9 school setting. 

1 0  7-: An individual •Nho is implementing applied behavior analysis services to an immediate 

1 1  family member or as a paid or volunteer caregiver implementing procedures 

1 2  established by the family or by the individual served in any setting, if the individual or 

1 3  caregiver docs not represent as a registrant or an applied behavior analyst. 

1 4  SECTION 1 7. AMENDMENT. Section 43-57-0 1 of the North Dakota Century Code is  

1 5  amended and  reenacted as fol lows : 

1 6  43-57-01 . Defin it ions. 

1 7  As used in  th is chapter, un less the context otherwise requ i res: 

1 8  1 .  "Board" means the state board of integrative hea lth care. 

1 9  2 .  "Licensee" means an ind ividual l icensed by the board under this chapter a nd under 

20 chapter 43-58, 43-59, 6f 43-61 . or 43-64 . 

2 1  S ECTION 1 8. AMENDMENT. Section 43-57-03 of the North Dakota Century Code is 

22 amended and reenacted as fol lows : 

23 43-57-03.  Powers and duties of  board. 

24 1 .  The board sha l l  adopt rules: 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

3 1  

a .  To admin ister a n d  enforce th is chapter a n d  chapters 43-58, 43-59. aoo 43-6 1 _,_ 

and 43-64 ; 

b .  That specify the scope of practice . which must b e  consistent with the requ i red 

education for each profession regu lated by the board ;  

c .  To estab l ish any exemptions from regu lations: 

g_,. That endorse equ ivalent l iccnsure examinations of another state or fore ign 

country and which may include l icensure by recip rocity; 
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2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

€1-:-e. That establ ish educational standards for each profession regu lated by the board 

as appropriate; and 

e:-t. That set fees for l icensure ,  which may include: 

( 1 ) Appl ication fee ;  

(2 ) L icense fee ;  

(3) Renewal  fee ; 

(4 ) Late fee ;  

(5) Admin istrative fees; and 

(6 ) Continu ing education fees. 

1 0  2 .  The board sha l l  produce an annual l ist of the names and level o f  l icensure o f  a l l  

1 1  i nd ivid uals l icensed by the board and make the l ist avai lable u pon request. 

1 2  3 .  The board may employ staff and provide for staff com pensation . 

1 3  4 .  The board sha l l  receive a l l  moneys col lected under th i s  chapter-, chapter and  chapters 

1 4  

1 5  

43-58, 43-59, aoo 43-61 , and 43-64 and shal l  deposit and  d isburse a l l  fees and 

moneys col lected i n  accordance with section 54-44- 1 2 . 

1 6  5 .  The board may establ ish continu ing education requ i rements for l icense renewal .  

1 7  6 .  The board may  adopt a code of eth ics for  each profession regu lated by  the board . 

1 8  7 .  The board may adopt ru les al lowing students to practice under l icensed s upervis ion . 

1 9  SECTION 1 9. AMENDMENT. Section 43-57-06 of the North Dakota Century Code is 

20 amended and reenacted as fol lows : 

2 1  43-57-06. Issuance of l icense. 

22 If the board determines tRa-t an appl icant possesses the qua l ifications requ i red under th is 

23 chapter and under chapter 43-58 , 43-59, 6f 43-61 , or  43-64, the board shal l  issue a l icense to 

24 the appl icant. 

25 SECTION 20.  AM ENDMENT. Subsection 2 of section 43-57-07 of the North Dakota 

26 Century Code is amended and reenacted as fol lows: 

27 2 .  A l icense issued under  chapter 43-58 o r  43-59 expires on December thirty-fi rst of 

28 every odd-numbered year. A l icense issued under  chapter 43-6 1 or 43-64 expi res on 

29 December thi rty-first of every even-numbered year. 

30 S ECTION 21 . AMENDMENT. Section 43-57-1 1  of  the North Dakota Century Code is 

3 1  a mended and reenacted as fol lows : 
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1 43-57-1 1 .  Enforcement - Penalty. 

2 A person that violates this chapter or chapter 43-58,  43-59, et= 43-6 1 ,  or 43-64 is gu i lty of a · 

3 class B misdemeanor. I n  add ition to the crimina l  penalties provided under this section ,  the civi l  

4 remedy of i njunction is avai lable to restra in and enjoin any violation of this chapter or  chapter 

5 43-58,  43-59, et= 43-6 1 . or 43-64 without proof of actua l  damages sustained by any person .  

6 SECTION 22. Chapter 43-64 of the North Dakota Century Code is created and enacted as 

7 fol lows: 

8 43-64-01 .  Definitions. 

9 For purposes of this chapter, un less the context otherwise requ i res: 

1 0  1.,_ "Board "  means the state board of integrative health care created under chapter 43-57 .  

1 1  2 .  "Licensed assistant behavior ana lyst" means a n  ind ividua l  who is l icensed under this 

1 2  

1 3  

chapter as a l icensed ass istant behavior ana lyst and is supervised by a l icensed 

behavior analyst. 

1 4  3 .  "Licensed behavior analyst" means an  ind iv idual  l icensed under th is chapter as  a 

1 5  l i censed behavior analyst. 

1 6  4 .  "Practice o f  appl ied behavior analysis" means the design, implementation, and 

1 7  

1 8  

1 9  

20 

2 1  

22 

evaluation of instructional and environmenta l  mod ifications to produce socia l ly 

sign ificant improvements i n  human behavior. The term includes the empir ical 

identification of functional relations between behavior and environmental factors . The 

term does not include the d iagnosis of d isorders, psychological testing. psychotherapy, 

cogn itive therapy, psychoanalys is, and counsel ing. 

43-64-02. Licensed required - Title restrictions.  

23 1.,_ Effective January 1 .  2020. an ind ividua l  may not practice applied behavior analysis 

24 without a current l icense issued by the board under this chapter. 

25 2 .  A l icensed behavior analyst may use the title " l icensed behavior analyst. "  A l icensed 

26 

27 

28 

29 

assistant behavior analyst may use the t i t le " l icensed assistant behavior ana lyst . "  

Effective January 1. 2020. an ind ividua l  who uses these terms as identification without 

having received a l icense as required u nder this chapter is engaging in the practice of 

appl ied behavior analysis without a l icense. 
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43-64-03. Qual ifications for l icensure. 

To obtain a l i cense to practice applied behavior analysis in this state. an applicant sha l l  

submit an  appl ication to the board . The application must be upon the form adopted by the board 

and must be made i n  the manner prescribed by the board . 

43-64-04. Appl ication for l icensure. 

6 1.:. An appl icant for l icensure shal l  fi le an application on forms provided by the board 

7 

8 

9 

1 0  

1 1  

1 2  

1 3  

1 4  

1 5  

1 6  

1 7  

1 8  

showing to the board's satisfaction the appl icant is of good mora l  character and has 

satisfied the requi rements of th is chapter and chapter 43-57. i nclud ing: 

a .  Successfu l completion of education. examination. and experience requirements 

establ ished by the board. such as certification from the behavior analyst 

certification board or a certifying entity accredited by the national commission for 

certifying entities or the American national standards institute: 

b. Physical. mental. and professional capabi l ity for the practice of appl ied behavior 

analysis  in  a manner acceptable to the board: and 

c.  A h istory free of any finding by the board. any other state l icensure board. or any 

court of competent jurisd iction of the commission of any act that wou l d  constitute 

grounds for d iscipl i nary action under this chapter and chapter 43-57 . The board 

may modify this restriction for cause. 

1 9  2 .  The appl ication must be accompanied by the board-establ ished l icense fees and 

20 

21  

appl icat ion fees and by the documents. affidavits. and certificates necessary to 

establ ish the appl icant possesses the necessary qual ifications .  

22 3 .  The board sha l l  establ ish standards for l icensed behavior ana lysts supervis ing 

23 l icensed assistant behavior analysts . 

24 43-64-05. In it ial  appl ications - Grandfather provision. 

25 Notwithstanding the education. experience. and examination requ i rements for l i censure 

26 under this chapter. if on  December 3 1 .  201 9. an appl icant held a val id l icense or registration 

27 issued by the state board of psychologist examiners under chapter 43-32. the appl icant is 

28 deemed to have met the education. experience. and examination requi rements for l icensure.  

29 SECTION 23. EFFECTIVE DATE. Sections 1 through 1 6  of th is Act become effective on 

30 January 1 ,  2020 . 
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43-57-01 . Defin it ions. 

CHAPTER 43-57 

INTEGRATIVE H EALTH CARE 

As used in this chapter, un less the context otherwise requ i res:  
1 .  · "Board" means the state board of integrative health care .  
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2 .  "L icensee" means an ind ividual l icensed b y  the board u nder this chapter a n d  under 
chapter 43-58, 43-59, or 43-6 1 . 

43-57-02. Board - Qual ifications - Appointment - Term of office - Compensation . 
1 .  The governor shal l  appoint the state board of i ntegrative health care , wh ich must 

consist of at least five members .  Each profession regu lated by the board m ust have 
one member on the board representing that profession .  I n  add ition ,  one member must 
be a doctor of medicine or osteopathy, one member must be a pharmacist, one 
member must be an advanced practice registered nu rse ,  and at least one but no more 
than two members must be laypersons. If a doctor of medic ine or osteopathy is not 
wi l l i ng  and a ble to serve, the governor may appoint an  advanced practice reg istered 
nu rse to fi l l  th is position .  A board member must be a resident of this state . The 
professional members must be l icensed to practice in th is state , except the in it ial 
appointment for a newly regulated profession , who must be e l ig ible for l icensure .  The 
layperson m ust be at least twenty-one years of age and m·ay not be affi l iated with any 
organ ization or profession that represents , provides, or  regu lates health care .  

2 .  The  term of office of each board member is three years with appointments d istributed 
even ly from year to year. A member may not serve more than two consecutive fu l l  
terms .  

3 .  The governor may  remove any board member for good cause after g iv ing that member 
a written statement of the reasons for removal and after that member has had an 
opportun ity for a hearing .  

4 .  Each board member shal l  serve without compensation but is entitled to receive 
expenses as provided in section 54-06-09 and per d iem as must be fixed by the board . 

5 .  Annua l ly, board members sha l l  e lect a chairman to preside at meetings of the board 
and a vice chairman to preside at meetings of the board i n  the chairman's absence. 

43-57-03. Powers and duties of board. 
1 .  The board shal l  adopt ru les: 

a. To admin ister and enforce this chapter and chapters 43-58, 43-59 , and 43-61 ; 
b .  That specify the scope of practice,  which must be consistent with the requ i red 

education  for each profession regulated by the board ;  
c .  That endorse equivalent l icensure examinations  of another state or fore ign 

country and which may include l icensure by reciprocity; 
d .  That establ ish educational standards for each profession regulated b y  the board 

as appropriate ; and 
e .  That set fees for l icensure, which may inc lude:  

( 1 ) App l ication fee;  
(2 ) License fee; 
(3 ) Renewal fee;  
( 4 ) Late fee;  
(5) Admin istrative fees; and 
(6 ) Continu ing education fees . 

2 .  The board shal l  produce an annual l ist of the names and level of l icensure o f  a l l  
i nd iv idua ls l icensed b y  the board a n d  make the l ist ava i lab le upon request. 

3 .  The board may employ staff and provide for staff compensation .  
4 .  The board sha l l  receive a l l  moneys col lected under this chapter, chapter 43-58,  43-59 , 

and  43-6 1 and shal l  deposit and d isburse a l l  fees and moneys collected in  accordance 
with section 54-44-1 2 . 
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6 .  The board may adopt a code of eth ics for each profession regu lated by the board . 

* I fj ·  aa 7 .  The board may  adopt ru les a l lowing students to practice under l i censed supervis ion .  

43-57-04. Board duties i n  regu lating professions - Subgr_oups.  
1 .  The board sha l l  estab l rsh a subgroup for each profession regu lated by the board . The 

board shal l  appoint at least three and no more than five members of the profession to 
serve as volunteer members of the subgroup. A subgroup member must be a l i censed 
member of the profess ion ,  except i n  the case of a newly regu lated profession i n  wh ich 
case each subgroup member m ust be el ig ib le for l icensure .  The board may appoint  a 
board member to serve on a subgroup representing that board member's p rofession .  
The subgroup members serve a t  the pleasure of the board . 

2 .  A subgroup establ ished u nder this section shal l  serve i n  an  advisory capacity to  advise 
the board when requested by the board .  The subgroup on its own motion may advise 
the board as the subg roup determines necessary. 

3 .  The board may  not take any action that impacts a profession regulated by the board 
as a whole or  which impacts one or more l icensees of that profession un less the board 
first consu lts with and requests the recommendation of the appropriate subgroup .  I f  
the board takes an action that is contrary to a subgroup's recommendation , the board 
shal l  articu late i n  writing why the subgroup's recommendation was not fol lowed . 

43-57-05. Petit ion to the board - Inclusion as a board-regulated profession -
Consideration of additional health care professions. 

1 .  An existing occupational  or professional board of th is state or agency of this state 
which regu lates the practice of a health profession or a representative of a health 
profession that is not regu lated by this state may submit to the board a petition and 
proposed b i l l  d raft requesting inclusion of  that health profession as a profession 
regu lated by the board . Upon receipt of a petition and proposed bi l l  d raft submitted 
under th is section ,  the board shal l  review the petition and may work with the person 
submitting  the petition to provide assistance in accompl ish ing this requested i nclus ion .  

2 .  If a committee of  the legis lative assembly considers a measure to  regu late a health 
care profession with fewer than fifty l i kely members, the committee shal l  consider 
whether it is  desirable and feasible to have the state board of i ntegrative health ,  some 
other exist ing board , or an existing state agency regu late that profession rather than 
create a new board .  

3 .  I f  the membersh ip of a board-regu lated profession increases to  a t  least one  hundred 
l icensees, the board may introduce . legislation creating an independent board to 
regu late that profession . 

43-57-06. Issuance of l icense. 
If the board determines that an appl icant possesses the qua l ificat ions requ i red u nder th is 

chapter and under chapter 43-58, 43-59, or 43-6 1 , the board sha l l  issue a l icense to the 
app l ica nt .  

43-57-07. License renewal - Continuing education. 
1 .  A l icense is  effective when granted by the board .  
2 .  A l icense issued under chapter 43-58 o r  43-59 expires on December th irty-fi rst of 

every odd-numbered year. A l icense issued under chapter 43-6 1 expi res on December 
thirty-first of every even-numbered year. 

3 .  A l icense m a y  b e  renewed by payment of the renewal fee a n d  completion o f  any 
continu ing education requ i rements set by the board , provided the appl icant's l icense is 
not currently revoked or grounds for denia l  do not exist. 

4 .  I f  the appl ication for renewal i s  not received o n  o r  before the expiration date, the 
l icense expi res and the ind ividual may not practice unti l  a new appl ication is made and 
a l icense is granted by the board .  
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5 .  

6 .  

7 .  

At the t ime of renewa l ,  the board shal l  requ i re each appl icant to present satisfactory 
evidence that the appl icant has completed any continu ing education requ i rements 
specified by the board . 
If a l icense has not been renewed as a result  of nonpayment of the renewal fee or the 
fai l u re of the l icensee to . present satisfactory evidence of completion of any continu ing 
education requ i rements , the l icensee must reapply for l icensure .  
The board may extend the renewal dead l ine for an appl icant having proof of  med ical 
or  other  hardsh ip rendering the appl icant unable to meet the renewal  dead l i ne .  

43-57-08. D iscip l ine. 
1 .  The board may take d iscip l inary action against a l icensee by any of the fol lowing 

means :  
a .  Revocation of l icense; 
b. Suspension of l icense; 
c. Probat ion; 
d .  Imposit ion of stipu lations, l im itat ions, o r  condit ions relating to the l icensee's 

p ract ice; 
e .  Letter of censure; 
f .  Requ i re the l icensee to provide free publ ic or charitable service for a defined 

period ;  and 
g .  I m pose fines, not to exceed five thousand dol lars for any single d iscip l inary 

action . Any fines col lected by the board must be deposited in the state general  
fund . 

2 .  D iscip l i nary action may b e  imposed against a l icensee upon any of the fol lowing 
g rounds :  
a .  The use of any  false, fraudu lent, or forged statement or document, or the  use of 

any  fraudu lent, deceitfu l ,  d ishonest, or immoral practice ,  i n  connection with any of 
the l i censing requ i rements. 

b .  The making of false or mislead ing statements about the  l icensee's sk i l l  o r  the 
efficacy of any medicine ,  treatment, or remedy. 

c .  The conviction of any m isdemeanor determined by the board to have a d i rect 
bearing  upon the l icensee's abi l ity to serve the pub l ic  or any fe lony. A l i cense may 
not be withheld contrary to the provisions of chapter 1 2 . 1 -33. 

d .  Habi tua l  use of a lcohol o r  d rugs. 
e. Physical or mental d isabi l ity materia l ly affecting the abi l ity to perform the duties of 

the p rofession i n  a competent manner. 
f. The performance of any d ishonorable ,  unethica l ,  or unprofessional conduct l i ke ly 

to deceive ,  defraud ,  or harm the publ ic .  
g .  Obta in i ng  any fee by fraud,  deceit, or m isrepresentation .  
h .  Aid i ng or abetting the  practice o f  the  profession by  an un l icensed , incompetent, or 

impa i red person . 
i .  The vio lation of a n y  provision of the rules of the board , or a n y  action ,  stipu lation ,  

cond it ion ,  or agreement imposed by the board . 
j .  The practice of the profession under a false o r  assumed name. 
k. The advertis ing for the practice of the profession in an  untrue or deceptive 

manner. 
I .  The  representation to a patient that a man ifestly incurable cond ition , sickness, 

d i sease, or_ i njury can be cured . 
m .  The wi l lfu l  o r  neg l igent violation of the confident ia l ity between l icensee and 

pat ient ,  except as requ i red by law. 
n .  G ross negl igence i n  the practice of the profession .  
o .  Sexua l  abuse, misconduct, or exploitation related to the l icensee's practice of  the 

profession . 
p .  A continued pattern of inappropriate care.  
q .  The i mposition by another state o r  ju risd ict ion of d iscip l inary action against a 

l i cense or other authorization to practice based u pon acts or conduct by the 
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l icensee wh ich would constitute grounds for discip l inary action as set forth in  th is 
section .  A certified copy of the record of the action taken by the other state or  
jurisdiction is conc lusive evidence of  that action . 

r. The lack of appropriate documentation in medical records for d iagnosis,  testing , 
and treatment of patients . 

43-57-09. Discip l i nary proceedings - Appeals. 
1 .  Upon the fi l ing of a written and signed complaint that a l leges that a l i censee practic ing 

in  th is state has engaged in  conduct identified as grounds for d iscip l inary action under 
th is chapter, and which sets forth information upon which a reasonable and prudent 
person might bel ieve that further inquiry should be made,  the board sha l l  cause the 
matter to be investigated .  

2 .  The board may  investigate a complaint on  the board's own motion ,  without requ i ring 
the identity of  the com plainant to be made a matter of publ ic record , if the board 
concludes that good cause exists for preserving the anonym ity of the compla inant. 

3 .  I f  the investigation reveals n o  grounds to support the complaint ,  the board , three years 
following the date on which the complaint was fi led , sha l l  expunge the com plaint from 
the l icensee's ind ividua l  record in the board's office .  

4 .  If the investigation reveals grounds to support the compla int ,  the  board sha l l  in itiate a 
d iscip l inary action by serving upon the l icensee a notice of d iscipl inary action setting  
forth the al legations u pon which the action i s  based , as  wel l  as a specification of  the 
issues to be considered and determined . 

5 .  If a written response contesting the al legations is  not received by the board with i n  
twenty days of  the date that the notice o f  d iscipl inary action was received or  refused , 
the a l legations may be deemed admitted and d iscip l inary sanctions deemed 
appropriate by the board must be imposed . 

6 .  The board may at  any time enter an i nformal resolution to  resolve the  complaint o r  
d iscip l inary action .  

7 .  An appeal from the board's final decision may be taken i n  accordance with chapter 
28-32. 

43-57-1 0. Discip l i nary proceedings - Cost of prosecution. 
In  any order or decision issued by the board in  resolution of a d isc ip l inary proceed ing in 

whi ch d iscipl inary action is imposed against a l icensee, the board may d i rect the l icensee to pay 
the board a sum not to exceed the reasonable and actual costs , inc lud ing reasonable attorney's 
fees , incurred by the board in the investigation and prosecution of the case . When appl icable ,  
the l icensee's l icense may be suspended unti l the costs are paid to the board . A l ice nsee may 
cha l lenge the reasonableness of any cost item in  a hearing under chapter 28-32 before an 
adm in istrative law judge .  The admin istrative law judge may approve , deny, or modify any cost 
item,  and the determination of the administrative law judge is fina l .  The admin istrative hearing 
must occur before the l icensee's l icense may be suspended for nonpayment. 

43-57-1 1 .  Enforcement - Penalty. 
A person that violates th is chapter or chapter 43-58, 43-59 , or 43-6 1 is gu i lty of a class B 

misdemeanor. I n  add ition to the criminal penalties provided under this section ,  the civi l remedy 
of injunction is ava i lable to restrai n  and enjoin any violation of th is chapter or  chapter 43-58 , 
43-59 , or  43-6 1 without proof of actual damages sustained by any person .  
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Section 18, 43-57-03 Powers and duties of board 
Remove le. "To establish any exemptions from regulations : This provision would have the integrative health 
care board develop  exemptions from behavior analyst licensure and put them in regulations . Gino Green, PhD, 
BCBA-O, CEO, Association Professional Behavior Analysts thinks it's for better to hove those in the statute 
instead of regulations, so strongly recommend replacing this provision c with a section of the bill that specifies 
exemptions, using the language in the Association of Professional Behavior Analyst Model Licensure Act as a 
template. 

Section 22, 43-64-05 I nitial appl ications - Grandfather provision 
Change 43-64-05 to 43-64-06 Initial applications - Grandfather provision. 

Add Section 22, 43-64-05. Exemptions 
Gina Green, PhD, BCBA-D, CEO, Association Professional Behavior Analysts thinks it's for better to have 
exemptions in the statute instead of regulations and strongly recommend replacing this provision c with a 
section of the bill that specifies exemptions, using the language in the Association of Professional Behavior 
Analyst Model Licensure Act as a template. 
The provisions of this Act shall not be construed as prohibiting or restricting the practice of any of the following :-

1 .  Individuals licensed to practice psychology in North Dakota and those who deliver psychological services 
nder their s u pervision, provided that (a) applied behavior analysis is in the scope of practice section of the 

North Dakota psychology licensure law; (b) the applied behavior analysis services provided are within the 
boundaries of the Licensed Psychologist's education, training, and competence; and (c) the Licensed 
Psychologist does not represent that s/he is a licensed Behavior Analyst unless also  licensed under this Act . 

2. Individuals licensed to practice other professions in North Dakota and those who deliver services under their 
supervision, provided that (a) applied behavior analysis is in the scope of practice section of the profession's 
licensure law; ( b) the applied behavior analysis services provided are within the boundaries of the licensed 
professional's education, training, and competence; and (c) the licensed professional does not represent that he 
or she is a Licensed Behavior Analyst unless also licensed under this Act . 

3 .  Behavior technicians who deliver applied behavior analysis services under the extended authority and 
direction of a Licensed Behavior Analyst or a Licensed Assistant Behavior Analyst. Such individuals must not 
represent themselves as professional behavior analysts, and must use titles that indicate their nonprofessional 
status, such as "ABA technician," "behavior technician," or "tutor." 

4.  Caregivers of recipients of applied behavior analysis services who deliver those services to the recipients 
under the extended authority and direction of a Licensed Behavior Analyst or a Licensed Assistant Behavior 

. Analyst. Such individuals must not represent themselves as professional behavior analysts . 

E .  Behavior analysts who practice with nonhumans, including applied animal behaviorists and animal trainers . 
Such individuals may use the title "behavior analyst" but may not represent themselves as Licensed Behavior 

nalysts or Licensed Assistant Behavior Analysts unless licensed under this Act . 

. . Professionals who provide general applied behavior analysis services to organizations, so long as those 
services are for the benefit of the organizations and do not involve direct services to individuals . Such 
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#- I fJ- a4rofessionals may use the title "behavior analyst" but may not represent themselves as Licensed Behavior 
· Analysts or Licensed Assistant Behavior Analysts unless licensed under this Act. 

5 .  Matriculated college or university students or postdoctoral fellows whose applied behavior a nalysis a ctivities 
are pa rt of a defined program of study, course, practicum, internship, or fellowship a nd are directly s upervised 
by a Licensed Behavior Analyst in this jurisdiction or a qualified faculty member. Such individuals must not 
represent themselves as professional behavior analysts and must use titles that clearly indicate their trai nee 
status, such as "student," "intern," or "trainee." 

6. U nlicensed individuals pursuing experience in  applied behavior a nalysis consistent with the experience 
req uirements of the certifying entity, provided such experience is s upervised i n  accordance with the 
req uirements of the certifying entity. 

7. I ndividuals who teach behavior a nalysis or conduct behavior-analytic research, provided that such a ctivities 
do not involve the direct delivery of applied behavior analysis services beyond the typical parameters of applied 
research . Such i ndividuals may use the title "behavior analyst" but may not represent themselves as Licensed 
Behavior Analysts or Licensed Assistant Behavior Analysts unless licensed u nder this Act. 

8. Behavior a nalysts licensed in  another j urisdiction or certified by the certifying entity to practice 
independently a nd who practice in North Dakota no more than 30 days within a calendar  year u nless the 
behavior a nalyst has applied for a nd is granted a temporary license. 

9. I ndividuals employed or contracted by a school performing the d uties of their positions or contract. Such 
individuals shall not represent themselves as Licensed Behavior Analysts or Licensed Assistant Behavior Analysts 
unless licensed under this Act, and shall not offer applied behavior a nalysis services to a ny persons or entities 
other tha n  their school employer or school contracted employer or accept remuneration for providing applied 
behavior a nalysis services other than the remuneration they receive from their school employer or school 
contracted employer. 

Section 22,43-64-01. - Definitions 

Add "2. "Certifying entity" means the Behavior Analyst Certification Board ( BACB) or a nother entity whose 
programs to credential practitioners of applied behavior analysis are accredited by the National Commission on 
Certifying Agencies (NCCA) or the American National Standards I nstitute (ANSI ) . "  Explanation: Gina Green, PhD, 
BCBA-D, CEO, Association Professional Behavior Analysts recommended this change. 

Change 2 to 3 and  add at the end " who is approved by the certifying entity to s upervise assista nt behavior 
a nalysts ." Explanation: Gina Green, PhD, BCBA-D, CEO, Association Professional Behavior Analysts states [Per 
BACB standards, LABAs/BCaBAs must be supervised by LBAs/BCBAs who meet BACB supervisor standards in order 
to maintain their certification and hence their ND license if this bill is adopted]. 

Change 4 to 5 and  replace the definition " Practice of applied behavior analysis" with the following .  "Pra ctice of 
applied behavior a nalysis"  the design, implementation, a nd evaluation of i nstructional and environmental 
modifications  to produce socially significant improvements in human  behavior. The practice of applied behavior 
a nalysis i n cludes the empirical identification of functional relations between behavior a nd environmental factors, 
known as fun ctional assessment and a nalysis .  Applied behavior a nalysis interventions are based on scientific 
research a nd direct and indirect observation a nd measurement of behavior a nd environment. They utilize 
contextual factors, motivating operations, antecedent stimuli, positive reinforcement, a nd other procedures to 
help individuals develop new behaviors, increase or decrease existing behaviors ,  a nd emit behaviors under 
specific environmental cond itions.  The practice of applied behavior a nalysis excludes diagnosis of disorders, 
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psychological testing, psychotherapy, cognitive therapy, psychoanalysis, and counseling. Explanation: Gina Greef I eJ· 2?
PhD, BCBA-D, CEO, Association Professional Behavior Analysts states [Since this will be the legislated scope of 
practice for the profession if the bill is adopted, it's essential that it reflect the definition of practice that has been 
developed by the profession.] . 

Add 6 "Behavior Technicians" A paraprofessional who practices under the close, ongoing supervision of a 
Licensed Behavior Analyst or Licensed Assistant Behavior Analyst. The behavior technician does not design 
assessment or intervention plans or procedures but delivers services as assigned by the supervisor responsible 
for his or her work. Explanation: This was feedback from several ND licensed behavior analysts that reviewed the 
bill. 

Section 22, 43-64-04 - Appl ication for l icensure 

Change la to "Current certification by the certifying entity at the appropriate level, which signifies that the 
app licant has met the education and supervised experiential training requirements established by the profession 
and has passed the national certifying examination." Explanation: Gina Green, PhD, BCBA-O, CEO, Association 
Professional Behavior Analysts states [Much stronger and more straightforward to state this essential 
qualification clearly in statute than to leave it to the regulations to be developed if the bill is adopted.] 

Change le - after "state licensure board," insert "certifying entity," Explanation: Gina Green, PhD, BCBA-D, CEO, 
Association Professional Behavior Analysts states [to include any disciplinary action taken by the BACB] 

dd Section 22, 43-64-07 . Temporary License. Behavior analysts licensed in another jurisdiction or certified by 
the certifying entity to practice independently who provide applied behavior analysis services in North Dakota on 
a short-term basis may apply for a temporary license. Applicants for temporary licenses shall submit an 
application and fee established by the Board, and evidence that their practice in the jurisdiction wil l  be 
temporary as defined by the Board in rules . A temporary license will be granted only if the Board verifies the 
applicant's l icensure or certification status with the relevant entity. 
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RECOMMENDATIONS FOR SENATE B ILL NO. 2236 

1) Recommend that Legis lative Counci l  research Section 18, 43-57-03 1 c Powers and duties of board to ensure 
a l l  exemptions listed for behavior analysts are inc luded in Section 22, 43-64-05. Exemptions that was added as 
an amendment. 

2) Recommend that Legis lative Counci l  research the fo l lowing Section  and consider whether or not it needs to 
remain in the bi l l .  
Section 22, 43-64-05 - Initia l applications - Grandfather provision 
Licensed and registered behavior analysts are currently BACB certificants in  good standing. Gina Green, PhD, 
BCBA-D, CEO, Association Professional Behavior Analysts states [Since they are currently in good standing, 
there is no need to "grandfather" them in because they "have met the education ,  experience, a nd examination 
requirements for licensu re" but shou ld sti l l  have to get a license from the I ntegrated Health Care Board. 

3) Recommend that Legis lative Counci l  research how to address the BCBA-D certification .  These are individuals 
who are licensed psycho logists and BCBA's. 

4) Recommend that the subgroups referenced in 43-57-04. Board duties in regu lating professions - Subgroups 
select professionals that represent both pub lic and private entities . 

5) Recommend that by moving behavior analyst licensure under Cflapter 43-57 INTEGRATED HEALTH CARE and 
creating Chapter 43-64 that candidates wi l l  be granted licensure in  a much more timely manner  making the 
need for a temporary or expedited license less critica l .  
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Senate Bill 2236 - Licensure & Regulation of Behavior Analyst Professionals 
Senate Human Services Committee 

Senator Judy Lee, Chairwoman 

January 23 , 20 1 9  

Chairwoman Lee and Members of the Senate Human Services Committee : 

My name is Lorena Poppe. I am the owner and executive director of Poppy' s  Promise, a 
provider of Applied Behavior Analysis (ABA) in the Bismarck region. I am testifying 
today in support of SB 2236 and would recommend the addition of amendments to 
strengthen the currently proposed bill language. 

Poppy' s  Promise has been in operation for just over a year. We are building our ABA 
program from the ground up . As any new business does, we struggle with balancing the 
costs of providing this service with establishing and maintaining a stable revenue stream. 
As a small business, we have deeply felt the impacts of lengthy and costly processes that 
often create significant barriers to providing needed services in our state . One of those is 
most certainly the BCBA licensing process . Poppy' s  Promise currently contracts with a 
BCBA who has been licensed in the state for a number of years, but we know it is only a 
matter of time until we will be in the same position as other ABA provider organizations 
in supporting BCBAs as employees to obtain l icensure . 

The current licensure process through the ND Board of Psychology Examiners is both 
cumbersome and costly . I am encouraged by the introduction of SB 2236 and believe 
that with the addition of model language proposed by the Association of Professional 
Behavior Analysts (APBA) the licensure of BCBAs will occur in a timely manner and in 
a way that is relevant to the profession. An improved licensure process will remove 
many of the challenges that stop people from pursuing the education required to become 
a BCBA or moving to North Dakota from another state to work as a BCBA. 

The addition of ABA to the Medicaid State Plan and last fall ' s  bulletin from the ND 
Insurance Commissioner providing for the coverage of ABA by private insurers in the 
state, combined with the abundance of evidence proving its effectiveness, send the 
message that ABA is clearly not going away in North Dakota. 
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Our state owes it to the children, teenagers and adults in North Dakota who exp�:c?· ½ 
life-changing results from ABA therapy to assure there is an efficient and meaningful 
process in place to license the professionals who design and oversee the delivery of ABA 
services . 

Thank you for the opportunity to testify in support of SB 2236 .  I would be happy to 
answer any questions you might have. 
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Senate Bill 2286 - Regulation of Applied Behavior Analysts 

Senate Bil l  2236 - Licensure & Regulation of Behavior Analyst Professionals 

Senate Human Services Committee 

Senator Judy Lee, Chairwoman 

January 23, 20 1 9  

Chairwoman Lee and Members of the Senate Human Services Committee : 

I am Hol ly  Johnson, Licensed Board Certified Behavior Analyst, and current Executive Board 

President for the North Dakota Association for Behavior Analysis (NDABA). I am providing thi s  

written testimony from my personal standpoint regarding Senate B i l l  2286 and Senate B i l l  2236, 

both b i l l s  re lating to the l icensure and regulation of Behav ior Analysts in North Dakota. While 

th i s  testimony is  not official ly supported or opposed by NDABA Executive Board or its 

membersh ip, I do want to prov ide valuable information from a Behavior Analyst (BA) 

professional currently  practicing Appl ied Behavior Analysis (ABA) in North Dakota (ND). 

Executive board members of NDABA are sp l it on supporting SB 2286 and SB 2236, as l ikely an 

accurate representation of the membership ofNDABA, compri sed of BA professionals in ND, at 

large also being spl i t  on SB 2236 .  An informal survey invitation was sent to NDABA members 

in October of 20 1 8 , with a few questions regarding the current l i censure process under the North 

Dakota State Board of Psycho logical Examiners (NDSBPE) : 

• 6 of 1 1  respondents reported it taking between 6 months - 3 years to obtain their l icense 

from the in itial app l ication period unti l they passed the oral exam; 

• 4 of 6 respondents only took the oral exam once ; 

• I of those 6 respondents took the oral exam twice; 

• I of the 6 respondents took the oral exam 3+ times before obtaining I i  censure . 

• One respondent of 6 respondents reported it took 2 months to receive a provis ional 

l i cense; and, 

• One respondent of 6 respondents reported it took 1 3  months for them to receive their 

prov is ional l icense . 

Whi le  the NDSBPE and its regulation of BAs is not without flaws, those flaws are s lowly being 

reso lved since I i  censure inception in 20 1 2 . I was l icensed in January of 20 1 4, after not passing 

my first oral exam from NDSBPE in October 20 1 3 .  I passed my national board certification test 

in February of 20 1 3 . For me, it took nearly a year to obtain l i censure in ND. At the time of my 

oral examination, provisional l i censes were not granted to BAs. A graduate student I supervised 

for fieldwork practicum hours recently took 4-5 weeks to be granted her provisional l i cense by 

NDSBPE th i s  past fal l .  

The proposed SB  2236 would be a major shift fo r  BAs, and i t  does not contain ideal language for 

our regu lation in ND.  The Association for Professional Behavior Analysts (APBA) has a model 
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l icensure act, and I wou ld need to see language from that model l i censure act inc luded in SB 

2236 before I wou ld g ive my fu l l  support .  Some of those add it ional rev i s ions inc lude :  

• There i s  a lack of ment ion of the superv i sion and exemption of Registered Behav ior 
Technic ians (RBTs), which the APBA has in the ir mode l l icensure act, that would be 
important. 

• The b i l l  as proposed may create potential barriers and issues w ith l i censed psychologists 
who are also Board Certified Behav ior Analysts (BCBAs) and those professionals would 
l i ke ly need to be dual l y  l icensed if SB 2236 were to pass i nto law. 

• There i s  no language in  regard to Telehealth practice. 

I do value that the I ntegrative Health Care Board al lows one BA to s i t  on the board and then 
have adv i sory subgroup of 3-5 BAs. I also apprec iate that once membersh ip cons i sts of l 00 
l i censed professionals , the d i sc ip l ine/profession is  required to separate from th i s  regu latory board 
and create thei r  own regu latory board. Thi s  is the case for Physical Therapi sts, under Senate B i l l  
2 1 25 currently introduced th is  legis lative session, creating thei r  own, separate regu latory board . 

I do not appreciate that BAs are not currently represented on the NDSBPE by an appo inted board 
member being a Licensed App l ied Behav ior Analyst. This appointment has been vacant for over 
s ix months, waiting on the Governor to appo int a board member to the open posit ion .  This may 
be a factor in the effic iency of the NDSBPE currently .  I a l so th ink the outsourc ing of 
adm in i strative duties, inc luding the process ing of app l icat ions and a cumbersome, confusing 
app l i cation process, i s  also h indering the effic iency of the NDSBPE.  However, mere ly creat ing 
an amendment, as found in SB 2286, to al low for an exped ited l icense to be granted, i s  not the 
so lution to th i s  i ssue e ither. 

Therefore, I am not in support of SB 2286 as written because it does not reso lve the i ssues w ith 
current l icensure and regu lat ion of Behavior Analysts by merely creat ing an exped ited l i cense . 

I am more supportive of SB 2236;  however, not w ithout major rev i s ions needed in  the language 
of the proposed b i l l ,  to ful ly  provide my support. 

This concludes my test imony, and I am happy to answer any further questions you may have by 
ema i l ing me at ho l ly. johnson . bcba@out look .corn . 

S incere ly, 

Ho l ly  Johnson, MS, BCBA, LABA 
Board Certified Behav ior Analyst # 1 - 1 4- 1 5 1 98 
ND Licensed Appl ied Behav ior Analyst #L 1 5  



Title 

ND Licensed psychologist 

ND Licensed ABA 

ND  Registered ABA 

Ski l ls Tra iner 

North  Da kota A l ied Be havi 

Education Requirement 

Doctora l Degree, Psycho logy 

Masters Degree, Psychology, Specia l  

Education, or  specific addit ional 

coursework 

Bachelors Degree with specific 

requ irements 

Paraprofessional staff-emp loyed, 

tra ined in  general techniques to a 

basic competence, and tra ined i n  

specific techniques of  ABA treatments 

and monitored/adjusted by 

supervising ABA therapist 

Examination 

Requirements 

Active l icense from 

NDSBPE 

1 )  Requires BCBA from 

BACB 

2) Oral Exam by the 

NDSBPE 

1 )  BCaBA from BACB 

OR 

2) Score of � 450 

points or higher on 

national written exam 

for Psychology ( EPPP) 

AND 
3) Passi ng ora l  exam 

by the NDSBPE 

Not regu lated by 

NDSBPE 

Supervision 

Requirements 

None 

None 

Supervised by 

1) Licensed 

Psychologist 

OR 

2 )  Licensed ABA 

Supervisors must be 

on fi le with NDSBPE 

Supervision by 

1) Licensed ABA 

OR 

2) Registered ABA 

Scope of Practice 

Can diagnose ASD 

cond itions. Ca n 

design, supervise, 

eva l uate, and  

modify treatment 

programs to change 

behavior in ASD. 

Cannot d iagnose. Can 

design, supervise, 

eva luate, and modify 

treatment programs 

to change behavior in  

ASD. Can code and fi le  

a c la im independently. 

Cannot diagnose. Can 

design, supervise, 

eva luate, and modify 

treatment programs 

to change behavior in 

ASD under required 

supervisor. Cannot 

code and fi le a claim 

independently per 

Century Code. 

Di rect Implementation 

of ABA Therapy. Does 

not design 

intervention or 

assessment plans. 

Cannot code and fi le a 

claim independently 

per Century Code. 

BACB Equivalent 

N/A 

BCBA 

BCaBA 

RBT 

Grandfathered 

Staff? 

N/A 

Yes, without BCBA, 

closed 2013 and 

beyond 

No 

No 



Title 

BCBA-D Board Certified Behavior Analyst-

Doctoral 

BCBA Board Certified Behavior Ana lyst 

BCa BA Board Certified Assistant Behavior 

Ana lyst 

RBT Registered Behavior Technic ian 

Behav ior  Ana lyst Ce rtifi cat ion  Boa rd 

Education Requirement 

Doctoral  Tra in ing i n  BA 

Masters Degree 

Bache lors Degree 

Para p rofess iona l  

Examination 

Req uirements 

Pass BCBA Exa m 

offered by BACB 

Pass BCBA Exam 

offered by BACB 

Pass BCa BA Exam 

offered by BACB 

BACB Certification 

Supervision 

Requirements 

None 

None 

Supervised by 

BCBA/BCBA- D 

Supervised by 

BCBA/BCa BA 

Scope of Practice 

Cannot d iagnose. 

I ndependent 

p ractitioner who 

provides therapy and 

supervises work of 

BCa BA's, RBT's 

Cannot diagnose. 

I ndependent 

practit ioner who 

provides therapy and  

supervises work of 

BCa BA's, RBT's 

Cannot d iagnose. 

Supervised 

practitioner who may 

supervise RBT's in 

imp lementing 

behavior ana lytic 

i nterventions 

Does not design 

intervention or 

assessment p lans .  

Primari ly responsible 

for d i rect 

imp lementation of 

ABA Services. BCBA 

supervis ing RBT is 

responsib le for work 

performed by RBT. 



BACB 

B C B A  

B C BA-D 

B C a BA 

R BT 

N D S B P E  

D S P  

A S D  

B e h a v i o r  A n a lyst Ce rt i fi c a t i o n  Boa rd 

B o a rd C e rt i f i e d  B e h a v i o r  A n a lyst 

Te r m s  

B o a rd Ce rt i f i e d  B e h a v i o r  A n a lyst- D o c t o ra l 

B o a rd C e rt i f i e d  A s s i st a n t  B e h a v i o r  A n a lyst 

R e g i s t e red B e h a v i o r  Te c h n i c i a n  

N D  S t a t e  B o a rd o f  P s yc h o l ogist E >< a m l n e rs 

D i rect S u p po rt P rofe s s i o n a l ( P a ra p rofes s i o n a l )  

A u t i s m  S p e ct ru m  D i s o rd e rs 



SB 2236 
ABA Therap ist Licens ing 

House Human  Services Comm ittee 

Rob in Weisz - Cha i rma n 

Cha i rman  Weisz and  members of the comm ittee, 

For the reco rd, my name is Thomas Bead le, State Representat ive from Distr ict 27 in Fa rgo.  I am a lso a 

board member  fo r the North Da kota Autism Center, located i n  West Fa rgo . I a m  he re today i n  support of 

SB 2236, dea l ing with the l icens ing and regu lat ion of behavior ana lyst p rofess iona l s .  

I f  you reca l l  l ast sess ion,  we had lengthy d iscuss ion on HB 1434 which dea lt w i th i n su ra nce coverage fo r 

ABA thera py. We recogn ized that th is thera py a nd treatment was immensely va l ua b le and  cou ld do 

wonders for the k ids that were treated . The House passed that b i l l  even though we tend to not favo r 

insura nce mandates, but it was unsuccessfu l i n  the Senate. Last yea r, I ns u ra nce Com m issioner Godfread 

put out a bu l let in from h i s  office that  requ i red com pan ies to  cove r it, a s  he  saw the need for th i s  

coverage and  ensuring that  patients weren 't den ied treatment that cou l d  work and  benefit us  a l l .  Th is 

was a tremendous victo ry for the Aut ism commun ity, but was on ly pa rt of the h u rd l e .  

As  you ' l l  reca l l , we  had lengthy d iscussions l ast sess ion a bout how the i n su ra nce p iece wou ld  i ncrease 

the demand for ABA, but we recogn ized that we a l so needed to work on the supp ly side of l icensed 

practit ioners .  This b i l l  i s our attempt to do that. There is a seve re bott leneck with the cu rrent l icens ing 

process with the Boa rd of Psycho logists, who cu rrently l i cense them, a nd we have hea rd of a number  of 

i nd ivid ua l s  who don 't fee l  l i ke the . current system is the best fit .  The re a re not enough ABA therap ists to 

justify the i r  own boa rd, but it I the fee l i ng of those operat ing in th i s  fie ld that the I ntegrat ive Hea lth 

Boa rd cou ld  do the job we l l , a nd he lp  exped ite the process. I know that there is some rese rvat ion from 

the Boa rd of Psycho log ist Exam i ners about los ing these l icensees, but I t h i nk  that th i s  is tru ly a good step 

to he lp  a l l eviate the p rob l em .  I know there a re some d i recto rs and  pract it ioners who a re here today that 

ca n he lp  better exp l a i n  the cu rrent situat ion and  necessity of th i s  cha nge. 

Thank  you, M r. Cha i rma n .  
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TESTIMONY IN SUPPORT OF SENATE BILL 2236 - LICENSURE AND REGULATION 
OF BEHAVIOR ANALYSTS 

Sandra Smith, Executive Director 
North Dakota Autism Center, Inc. 
647 1 3 th Ave E, Ste A, West Fargo, ND 58078 
701 -367-9855 

3 -l.P - \ '1  

Chairman Weisz and House Human Services Committee Members, my name is Sandy Smith. I 
am a co-founder, the President and Executive Director of the North Dakota Autism Center, Inc. 
in West Fargo. My 1 6  year old son was diagnosed with autism at 22 months old and I have spent 
the last 1 4  years advocating for him and other individuals with autism to have access to life 
changing applied behavior analysis (ABA) therapy. I have been involved in ND behavior analyst 
licensure law since the 201 1 legislative session when at my urging Senator Judy Lee introduced 
a bill to establish the first behavior analyst licensure law because my insurance required a Board 
Certified Behavior Analyst to supervise my son' s treatment and the one I recruited from 
Nebraska could not practice in North Dakota without violating the law. After being amended the 
bill passed and licensure of behavior analysts was added to the responsibility of the North 
Dakota Board of Psychologist Examiners. The original licensure law has been amended several 
times and the administrative rules have continued to evolve over the years into a process that 
presents many challenges for Board Certified Behavior Analysts to obtain licensure in a timely 
manner. I am testifying in support of Senate Bill 2236 which essentially transfers the 
responsibility of licensing Board Certified Behavior Analysts to the Integrative Health Care 
Board. Moving it to the Integrative Health Care Board also provides an opportunity for Board 
Certified Behavior Analysts to be part of the licensing process which is  not the case under 
current law. It is my understanding that a BCBA will be added to the Integrative Health Care 
Board and the board also has subgroups so additional BCBA' s in the state will have a part in 
making recommendations to the board. 

Over the last two years ND Medicaid and all ND insurance companies are now offering coverage 
for ABA Therapy. This has dramatically increased the demand for providers in ND and has 
called attention to the fact that getting certified professionals through the North Dakota Board of 
Psychologist Examiner' s  licensure process in a timely manner has become a significant 
challenge. It is also significantly disparate to other like professions as such as speech and 
language pathologists, occupational therapists and physical therapists. The North Dakota Board 
of Psychologist Examiners requires masters ' degree behavior analysts to go through a process 
that is very similar to what PhD Psychologist' s go through. It is cumbersome, redundant and 
takes significantly longer than other like professions. Once speech and language pathologists, 
occupational therapists and physical therapists pass their national exam and complete their 
applications for ND licensure it takes weeks to get their license versus the months it takes for 
behavior analysts. In addition, the application for BCBA licensure is $650 versus $240 or less 
for speech, occupational and physical therapists. I have included a document titled 
"Comparison of Professional Licensure" as part of this testimony for your review. 

1 
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Although North Dakota' s  current behavior analyst licensure law requires professionals to be 
certified by the Behavior Analyst Certification Board (BACB) the ND Board of Psychologist 
Examiners has candidates repeating processes and submitting the same information that the 
BACB has already gathered and verified before allowing candidates to even sit for the BCBA 
exam. There are also requirements for endorsements which puts the candidate at the mercy of the 
endorser to get the endorsement completed and sent in a timely manner so the candidate can get 
on the schedule for the next oral exam that is offered only 4 times per year. Endorsers missing 
the date and other paperwork delays can add months to the process. 

Senate Bill 2236 is modeled after the Association of Professional Behavior Analysts Model 
Licensure Act. In this model act, current certification by the Behavior Analyst Certification 
Board (BACB) is the principal requirement for obtaining and maintaining licenses. The Behavior 
Analyst Certification Board®, Inc. (BACB®) is a nonprofit 50l (c)(3) corporation established in 
1 998 to meet professional credentialing needs identified by behavior analysts, governments, and 
consumers of behavior analysis services. The BACB adheres to international standards for 
boards that grant professional credentials. The BACB' s Professional and Ethical Compliance 
Code of Behavior Analysts is incorporated as the code of conduct for individuals licensed under 
this Act. The BACB has established itself as the gold standard of certification for behavior 
analysts and there is absolutely no reason state licensing boards need to create redundant, 
cumbersome and additional time consuming processes and requirements for licensure. 

• 

The demand for licensed behavior analysts in ND greatly exceeds the supply. There are 
• approximately 30-35 licensed behavior analysts in ND today. Using data from the North Dakota 

Department of Public Instruction there are currently over 1 ,500 students ages 3 -2 1  in our public 
school system with an autism diagnosis. What is even more concerning is that there are many 
children who are diagnosed before age three and this also does not address the many individuals 
with autism who are over 21 years of age. ND needs well over 1 00 licensed behavior analysts to 
address just the needs of the children in our state and many more to address the adult population. 
That is why Senate Bill 2236 is so important. We need to get BCBA' s who currently live in the 
state through the licensure process in a timely manner and ensure they as well as out of state 
BCBA' s don't view ND as a state with a difficult licensure process and go elsewhere. 

I urge you to send Senate Bill 2236 to the House floor with a do pass recommendation. Thank 
you for your time today. 

Sandra Smith - Testimony Senate B i l l  223 6 
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Comparison of Professional Licensure 

COLLEGE GRADUATE '·""·- •,'C ,w .·• ; _,, . .  ' u 

Education Level Required Master's or Doctorate Master's or Doctorate Master's or Doctorate Master's or Doctorate 

On-Site Experience before Graduation Externship 2x16 week 
Cl inical Affi l iation 18 Fielwork Experieince 2x2 week 1500 hours of supervised independent fie ldwork (max 130 per 

weeks & 10 weeks & 2 x12 week month) going up  to 2000 hrs. in 2020 

• 
Graduated from an Approved & Accredited 

Yes Yes Yes Yes 
Professiona l  Program 

Federation of State 
National Board for Certification 

Certification Board National PRAXIS exam Boards of Physcia l Behavior Ana lyst Certifcation Board ( BACB) 

Therapy 
in Occupational Therapy 

Official Transcripts Needed Sent d irectly to the Board Sent d irectly to the Board 
Sent d i rectly to the N BCOT Sent d irectly to BACB before exam and course work must be 

before exam can be taken approved by BACB before exam can be taken. 

I n it ia l  Exam Cost $120 $485 $515 $245 

America n Speech-
National Board for Certifcation 

Standard ized Test 
Language Hea ring National Physcial Therapy 

of Occupational Therapy Behavior Ana lyst Certifcation Board - BCBA or BCaBA Exam 
Association Praxis Test Exam (NPTE) 

Practiioner Exam (NBCOTP) 
(Praxis) 

Testing Center Fee No No Yes $125 

Score Transfer Fee $0 $0 $40/request $0 

INITIAL LICENSURE 

North Da kota State Board 

State Licensing Board 
of Examiners: Aud iology & North Da kota Boa rd of North Da kota State Board of 

Speech Language Physical Therapy Occupational Therapy P ractice 
ND Board of Psychologist Examiners 

Pathology 

Number of State Board Members 9 6 5 7 

Number of State Board Admin istrative Staff 1 5 3 1 or 2? 

$450 

Use one app l ication for both Psychologists and Behavior 

I n itia l State License Appl ication Fee $100 $200 $200 Ana lysts. I t  is very confusing and very long. D ifficult to 

determine what information needed from Behavior Ana lyst 

vs. Psvchologist 

J u ris Prudence 
J u ris Prudence Examination & 

State I n itial Ucensure Appl ication Exam No NDSBOTP Law/ Adminsitrative No 
Examination 

Rules Self Assessment 

$200 

Request for information that has a l ready been provided and 

PLUS Online Application Fee ( hosted on PSY/PRO) NA NA NA verified by the BACB prior to being a ble to take the BCBA or 

BCaBA Exam .  System is confusing because it is des igned for 

Psvcholoe:ists 

Mandatory Oral Exam offered 4 times per yea r in various 

Board I nterview At Board d iscretion At Board d iscretion At Board d iscretion 
different cities throughout ND.  Licensee sometimes given less 

than 24 hours notice of where they need to be the next day. 

NDBPE says they a re working on a written exam. 

• 
Yes - 3 (endorsements). M ust be ma iled to endorsers who 

References Required No No Yes - 2 
complete them and mai l  them back to outsou rcing agency. 

Licensee has to keep checking if they have been received.  Can 

delay a pplication. 

Yes, with init ial fee if requ irements a re met. Unsure of length 

of provisiona l  license and what happen if licensee fa i l oral 

Temp License Ava i lable & Cost No- Reinstate is $350 No - Reinstate is $200 
Yes - $90 taking next exam exam .  I f  they take on cl ients who ta kes on their  cl ients when 

within 4 months provisional l icense expires .  There a re no extra BCBA's 

ava i lable to take them on. Aga inst BACB Code of Ethics to 

abandon c l ients. 

Background Check (No finger Prints) No No 
Yes - Done by N BCOT to sit for 

Exam 
No 

F inger Pr int  Background Check Yes- State Boa rd Yes - State Board No No 

Finger Pr int  Ca rds - Agency Fee $10 $10 $0 No 

I n itia l Background Check Fee 
$0 - but done at College 

$40 
$0 - but complete at Col lege 

No fee done with l icensure d isclosure 
before Externsh ip $40 before Fieldwork $40 

Application Notarized Yes Yes Yes Yes 

Few months. Typical ly 4 to 6 months. I f  one of the endorsers 

State License Appl ication Review 7-10 Days Within 2 weeks Within Week 
fa i l to send in endorsement in timely manner l icensee may 

miss scheduled Oral Exam and have to wait 3 months. If 

l icensee fails Oral Exam must wait 3 months to retake it . 

LICENSE RENEWAL 

State License Authorization Duration Yearly Yearly Every 2 Year Yearly 

State Renewa l Licensure Fee $75 $100 $200 $250 

State Renewal Schedule December 1st, Yearly January 1st, Yea rly June 1st, Every 2 Yea rs November 1st, Yea rly 

State Renewa l Continue Education Requirements 10 CEUs per calendar yea r  
2 5  CEUs every 2 yea rs 

20 CEUs every 2 Years 40 CEUs every 2 years 
with 

State Additiona l  License Renewa l Exam 
Ju ris Prudence J uris Prudence Examination & 

No No 
Examination N DSBOTP 

State License Appl ication Review 7-10 Days With in 2 weeks With in  Week A month 

Association Membership Required Yes No No No 

Yes- Speech Language 

• 

Pathology Assistant (SLPA) 
Yes- Physcial Therapy 

& Speech Language 
Assista nts (PTA), Physical 

Yes - Occuaptional Therapy 

Supervision Abil ities Pathology Licensed 
Therapy Aides & College 

Assistants (OTA) & College Yes - Registered Behavior Technicians (RBT), RABA, BCaBA 

Assista nt (SLPLA) & College 
Students 

Students 

Students after Year CFY 

Completed 

Supervision Ratio 1 SLP : 2 SLPA or SLPLA 
1 PT : 3 Supportive 1 OT : 3 OTA & Not stated; Depending on ab i l ity/ava i labi l ity of BCBA 

Personnel 1 OT : 6 OT5 caseload. 



- Testimony 
Senate Bill 2236 - Licensure & Regulation of Behavior Analyst Professionals 

House Human Services Committee 
Representative Robin Weisz, Chairman 

March 6, 201 9 

Good morning, Chairman Weisz and Members of the House Human Services Committee. My 

name is Taylor Hill, and I am a licensed BCBA providing services through Anne Carlsen' s 

Behavioral Health Group in Bismarck. 

I would like to thank the Representatives for letting me share my testimony today. I appreciate 

the work you are doing to help make the licensing process more accommodating and efficient for 

professionals in the future. In my personal experience, it took me a year and a half to get licensed 

as a BCBA in the state of North Dakota. During a recent conference for behavior analysis ,  my 

colleagues and I shared that we were from North Dakota. An individual from Hawaii commented 

• that she had heard our licensing process was frustrating. If we want to provide opportunities for 

other professionals to come to our state and serve a population in much need of assistance, we 

need to change that narrative. We should be encouraging other experts in this field to come share 

their years of experience with us here in this state instead of worrying them with our licensing 

process .  

There are many families around the state that need services and continue to sit on waitlists .  They 

can't afford to wait longer while potential service providers are waiting and running in circles to 

complete a frustrating licensing process .  Improving this process may motivate other individuals 

from this state, who are discouraged by the current obstacles associated with licensure, to take 

the next steps forward in obtaining training in this field. This would provide families with more 

professionals who understand and appreciate the same North Dakota ideals and values they 

• share. 

I 
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.,) I love watching the individuals I serve make progress with their goals. This might be something 

as small as learning to greet a peer as they enter the room, or as big as learning to use the 

bathroom independently. When families share stories about the successes they see in the home or 

community, I know the work I do is making a difference. I would like for more families around 

the state to have these kinds of impactful experiences and that means allowing the opportunity 

for more professionals to provide services in a timely manner. I will not read the timeline of my 

experience with the BCBA licensing process, but I have included it in my testimony as an 

example of what I and others have experienced. I look forward to the recommended changes 

you have proposed to take effect, and I thank you for the opportunity to testify. I am happy to 

answer any questions you might have. 

Timeline outline - 9/20/16 to 3/22/1 8 

ASPPB - Association of State and Provincial Psychology Boards 

NDSBPE - North Dakota State Board of Psychologist Examiners 

PLUS - Psychology Licensure Universal System 

PsyPro - Online Application Management System 

9.20. 1 6  - 9.22. 1 6  - I completed the online PLUS application after receiving an email from the 

ASPPB that contained forms and direction on how to complete the application. 

1 0. 1 2. 1 6  - I received an email from the ASPPB stating I needed verification from the BACB that 

I was certified. I sent an email to the BACB to get verification and was notified that verification 

was sent on 1 0. 1 4. 1 6. 

• 
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,e :J 1 .23. 1 7  - I received an email that the PLUS system was changing to PsyPro, but all the 

• 

information I entered would be saved. The email also informed me that the site will be down 

from 1 .27. 1 7 - 1 .30. 1 7. 

1 .9 . 1 7  - I emailed the ASPPB to check the status of my application. One endorser hadn' t  

responded, and I was informed that none of my endorsers were licensed (Illinois does not require 

licensure) and because of that, my application does not meet the necessary requirements. 

3.8. 1 7  - I sent an email to the ASPPB that administrative codes in North Dakota were changing 

and asked how that might affect the requirement for licensed endorsements. I received an email 

back stating that the ASPPB only enforces the rules, they do not set them. I sent an email to the 

NDSBPE to get clarification on this but got no response. The ASPPB informed me that they can 

send in the application and see how the NDSBPE responds. I asked them to send in the 

application. The ASPPB sent me an email saying that I am missing information online. I logged 

into PsyPro and the information that was supposed to save during the transfer from PLUS to 

PsyPro in January did not save. I re-entered my information, including course records, 

certification confirmation, and official transcript. I also sent a new endorsement form to a new 

licensed endorser in North Dakota. 

5.8. 1 7  - I received an email from the ASPPB that they received the new endorsement. I was told 

I needed to resubmit my application using PsyPro. I submitted the application again and then 

received an email from the ASPPB stating that I needed to add undergraduate coursework and 

transcript. I added coursework and ordered an official transcript for my undergraduate degree. 

6.30. 1 7  - I received an email from the ASPPB that my transcript had been received and that my 

application had been submitted. 

3 



1 ?; /J rJ '!f:J 
S /!J I?  (p _ ,cj  

� - 8.3. 1 7  - I sent an email to the NDSBPE after my application was reviewed in a board meeting at 
• 

the end of the July. I received an email from the NDSBPE on 8. 1 4. 1 7  that my application was 

going to be reviewed on 8.2 1 . 1 7. 

8. 1 8. 1 7  - I received an email from the NDSBPE that my BCBA certification was going to expire 

on 8.31 . 1 7  and that they needed confirmation that it was renewed. I contacted the BACB about 

sending a "Letter of Good Standing" to the NDSBPE. I received an email from the BACB on 

8.25. 1 7  that my "Letter of Good Standing" had been sent. 

9.4. 1 7  - I received a letter from the NDSBPE that I had been granted a Provisional License. The 

Provisional License was good from 8.2 1 . 1 7  - 2.2 1 . 1 8 . 

1 1 . 1 5. 1 7  - I sent an email to the NDSBPE about my application. I received an email that I was 

on the agenda for 1 1 .20. 1 7. Between 1 1 .2 1 . 1 7  - 1 2. 1 . 1 7  I sent 6 emails to see the outcome of the 

NDSBPE meeting held on 1 1 .20. 1 7. I received an email back stating that my inquiry had been 

sent to the board on 1 2. 1 . 1 7. 

1 2.20. 1 7  - I sent an email to the NDSBPE to see if the board had received my inquiry. I received 

a call from a board member. He told me my application did not meet requirements of the board 

because two of my endorsers were not licensed in ND. I asked about the licensed endorser 

requirement being removed. He informed me that the board discussed removing this requirement 

but decided against it. 

1 2.28. 1 7  - I received a letter from NDSBPE reiterating that all endorsers had to be licensed in 

the state of ND. 

1 .29.201 8 - I requested an extension of my provisional license to allow time for the endorser 

information to get to the NDSBPE and was informed my provisional license would be extended 

on 2. 1 3.201 8. 

• 
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• .73 .22.201 8 - The NDSBPE informed me that I would be allowed to sit for the oral exam on April 

• 

• 

1 8, 201 8. I took the exam in Fargo and I was notified on 4.20.201 8 via phone call that I had 

passed the oral exam and would be a Licensed Applied Behavior Analyst in the state of North 

Dakota. 

Taylor Hill 

Behavioral Health Services - Behavior Supports Coordinator 

Anne Carlsen Center - Bismarck 

Ph:701 . 751 .23 15  Ext .3055 

Taylor.Hill@annecenter.org 
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Testimony in Opposition of 
Senate Bill 2236 - Licensure & Regulation of Behavior Analyst Professionals 

House Human Services Committee 
Representative Robin Weisz, Chairman 

March 6, 2019 

Chairman Weisz and Members of the House Human Services Committee: 

I am Holly Johnson, Licensed Board Certified Behavior Analyst, and current Executive Board President 
for the North Dakota Association for Behavior Analysis (NDABA). Our mission is to support and grow 
the field of behavior analysis in ND. I am providing this testimony in opposition to SB 2236 and 
representing NDABA and its membership; however, there are possibly BAs who are NDABA members 
who would not share this official position by NDABA. The NDABA Executive Board is comprised of 
seven member-elected executive members with voting on this bill comprising of five opposing, one 
supporting, and one member abstained from voting. I've also provided additional opposition testimony 
from other BAs and members of NDABA with this testimony. 

While there is nothing inherently wrong with the proposed bill (SB 2236) and the language contained 
there within, it would be a major shift for BAs. Changing our regulatory body is not the answer. The 
workforce issue does not come down to how long it takes to obtain licensure in ND. The testimony I 
provided last week on SB 2143 would help the BA workforce issue. The origins of this legislation come 
from providers who employ BAs in ND, not professionals. As far as I' m aware, less than 10% ( only 2) 
of BAs have testified at the Senate hearing for this bill (1 in person testimony and my own written 
testimony). Some BAs who are also NDABA members, may work for provider agencies requesting the 
switch, and their testimony may come from a perspective of respecting their employers. Three recent 
BAs received provisional licenses in 2-4 weeks from their application submission date. One of the 
graduate students I supervised for fieldwork practicum hours took a month to be granted a provisional 
license by NDSBPE this past fall. To put this in perspective with other states, I personally just obtained 
licensure as a BA in Virginia. That process that took just over a month to receive my notice of licensure 
in the mail. 

An informal survey invitation was sent to NDABA members in October of 2018, with a few questions 
regarding the current licensure process under the North Dakota State Board of Psychological Examiners 
(NDSBPE) : 

• 6 of 11 respondents reported it taking between 6 months - 3 years to obtain their license from the 
initial application period until they passed the oral exam; 1 respondent of 6 respondents reported 
it took 2 months to receive a provisional license; and 1 respondent of 6 respondents reported it 
took 13 months for them to receive their provisional license. 

• 4 of 6 respondents only took the oral exam once; 1 of those 6 respondents took the oral exam 
twice; and, 1 of the 6 respondents took the oral exam 3+ times before obtaining licensure. 

This survey information is a small sampling of experiences. Eleven respondents equates to 
approximately 37% of BAs in ND. I am hopeful other BAs have provided testimony on this bill. 
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While the NDSBPE and its regulation of BAs is not without flaws, those flaws are slowly being resol 
since licensure inception in 20 1 2. The vetting process currently in place ensures high quality and 
ethically competent BAs receive licenses. I was licensed in January of 20 14, after not passing my first 
oral exam from NDSBPE in October 20 1 3 .  For me, it took nearly a year to obtain licensure in ND. At 
the time of my oral examination, provisional licenses were not granted to BAs. Provisional licenses are 
now being granted in a timelier manner, and extensions of those provisional licenses are being given if 
the six-month period lapses, which was the case last fall with a BA in Grand Forks. Her provisional 
license was granted an extension and she continued to provide ABA without interruption. 

Personally, I do not appreciate that BAs are not currently represented on the NDSBPE. This 
appointment has been delayed for over six months or more, waiting on the Governor to appoint a BA 
board member. NDCC was changed last session to make that clearly able to be accomplished, but the 
Governor has yet to appoint. I also think the outsourcing of administrative duties, including the 
processing of applications and a cumbersome, confusing application process, is also hindering the 
efficiency of the NDSBPE. A switch to the Integrative Health Care Board would give us a representative 
position on the licensing board and 3-5 -member advisory committee, which is something of value to our 
profession, but again, the Governor would need to appoint. This could be accomplished with the current 
licensing board vacancies being filled with a ND-LABA. 

In summary, it is unclear whether a switch to a different regulatory board would resolve the licensure 
issues for BAs in ND, and NDAC would struggle to be implemented on the proposed timeline. It ' s  
likely that the BAs in ND are split on whether to support or oppose this piece of legislation. The 
NDABA did have five of seven executive board members opposing this bill, and thus wishing to remain 
with the NDSPBE at this time. The Governor needs to appoint a BA to NDSBPE, in order for us to be 
represented on our own regulatory board. There does need to be efforts to expand the workforce in ND, 
which likely needs the help of legislative efforts. 

This concludes my testimony. Thank you for your time and consideration of this testimony. I 'm happy 
to answer any further questions you may have. If I can be of assistance during this time of deliberation, 
please contact me at hol ly.johnson.bcba@outlook.com or call me at (70 1 )  240-9595 . 

Sincerely, 

Holly Johnson, MS, BCBA, LABA 
Board Certified Behavior Analyst # 1 - 1 4- 1 5 1 98 
ND Licensed Applied Behavior Analyst #L 1 5  
President, North Dakota Association for Behavior Analysis (NDABA) 

All opinion expressed here is my own. These opinions in no way represent the Department of Human 
Services/Life Skills and Transition Center, the ND Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) Task Force, or my 
supervisor' s position on the NDSBPE, all of which I am connected to, adding to my unique perspective 
contained in this testimony. 

• 
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Testimony in Opposition for 
Senate Bill 2236 - Licensure & Regulation of Behavior Analyst Professionals 

House Human Services Committee 
Representative Robin Weisz, Chairman 

March 6, 2019 

Representatives Weisz, Rohr, D. Anderson, Damschen, Devlin, Dobervich, Fegley, Kiefert, Porter, 
Ruby, Schneider, Skroch, Tveit, and Westlind, 

Because of my unique background with behavior analysis, specifically for North Dakota, I would like to 
provide you with information about SB2236 changing the statute on regulating behavior analysis. 

SB2236 :  To remove regulation of Applied Behavior Analysis from ND St. Board of Psychologist to a 
Sub-Board of the Unified Profession Regulatory Board. 

More than half of states now have regulatory boards governing behavior analysis. Most of the rest have 
some form of credentialing to protect insurance providers that they are paying for qualified behavior 
analysis services. Behavior analysis has always been a specialty within psychology. 

Combined Boards vs Separated Boards: 
Where psychology and behavior analysis are served by the same regulators, there has been little 
difficulty providing timely and effective oversight and licensing. Several states that separate the 
specialties have reported significant political complications due to confusion from professional overlap, 
along with public confusion about the differences. These have had to be brought to the legislature to 
umpire. 

Currently, the Psychology Board has 3 vacancies on the Board and there is at least one KNOWN 
qualified ABA who has expressed interest in being appointed to the Board membership by the 
governor. The appointment has been held up since June 2018, or there would have already been at least 
one ABA on the current Psychology licensing board. More can be appointed as only 3 of the 7 Board 
appointees are required to be psychologists. 

The Unified Board, however, would have one ABA appointed to the membership which is otherwise 
required to be made up of a variety of medical professionals. To offset that, a 3 person 'advisory' sub
committee may be appointed to advise the larger board. There are only a few businesses that appear to 
advocate for this move, with a vague argument that there is some advantage to separating ABA 
regulatory activities from Psychology regulatory activities. ABA will disappear into the medical 
regulatory world in that arrangement and lose the human service perspective. 

Historical Concerns: 
North Dakota applicants in behavior analysis experienced some normal startup complications when 
ABA licensing first began as has been true of all startup operations. Initially, there was paperwork and 
logistics problems that had to be sorted out. These have been addressed and the past year has been 
relatively smooth for ABA licensing. I know from both the Psychology Board (I am an appointed 
member) and applicant perspective (I have employed ABAs for the state for over 35 years) . 

Dr. Paul D. Kolstoe - Testimony SB 2236 Page 1 of� 

3 



J:tt.f  J d- � (p  
s 6  w - 1 9  � --

This past year I have had 3 ABA employees go/going through the process, and one Psychologist. They 
all received Provisional licenses within a month or less of initial application, with one Provisional 
License issued in less than 2 weeks. Provisional licensing enables immediate billing while waiting to 
take the Professional Responsibility Examination (PRE) which is specific to North Dakota law and 
ethics. I have now supervised 10 ABAs through or going through the process, and advised another half 
dozen out of the about two dozen licensed/registered ABA's in North Dakota. 

Those who experienced delays - whether ABA's or Psychologists - neglected to get their application 
materials into the Board. In some cases, delaying the process due to applicant missteps as much as 8 to 
1 0  months. The Board cannot act on an incomplete application and offer assistance where possible. 

It is my opinion that moving ABA to the Unified Board will set back the current efficient and effective 
system. Setting up new regulatory mechanisms with the new board is likely to introduce new and 
awkward bureaucracies that will impede the business of getting our trained ABAs into service, and 
provide them with experienced ethics and jurisprudence oversight. The current board efficiently blends 
the two highly similar branches of psychology to maximize benefits to both. 

Of particular concern is the transition date of January 1, 2020. That will cease the Psychology Board's 
authority to issue licenses and the Unified Boards Administrative Code is not likely to be in place to 
enable issuance of licenses - potentially leaving a void of several months getting new ABA' s into 
practice. Because I recruit, train, and assist ABA's to obtain licensure to meet the needs of North 
Dakota, this is a seriously flawed initiation date and threatens to hamper my ability to get ABA's into 
practice to meet pressing needs. 

I would urge you to leave the regulation of psychology and behavior analysis in the current 
hands. Over the past 2 years, I was regularly asked to testify to the Health Services Interim Committee 
meetings on behalf of the Psychology Board. Executive Directors of businesses who were present and 
employ behavior analysts were publicly asked of current difficulties getting ABA's licensed. They 
consistently reported on the record to the Chair that there were no problems being encountered, while 
recognizing there had been some glitches in past years. 

Summary: 
As a professional behavioral psychologist myself, and the leading employer and developer of behavior 
analysis in North Dakota, I would have assisted the constituents asking for such a bill to craft useful 
changes. I did so on the original bill for Senator Lee in the 2011 session. As noted above, I have 
assisted almost two dozen people through the licensing process (I must frequently recuse myself on the 
Licensing Board from voting as a result). I see both sides, including improvements the Board is 
working on now. While well-meaning, this bill actually will make hiring behavior analysts more 
confusing and complicated, and even then will not accomplish those constituents' intended goals. If 
there are concerns, they have not been expressed to the Psychology Board, or to me (in my role with the 
state) professionally, or to the North Dakota Association on Behavior Analysis in which I am very 
active. Concerns that have been expressed have been addressed relatively well to date. 

I continue to have most difficulty NOT with Licensing - but in finding ABAs to hire, and going so far as 
to train them myself. Providing resources for ABA practicum experiences and loan repayment work • 
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incentives are crucial and are not addressed in the behavioral health workforce initiatives introduced so 
far. If ABA could be added to those it would be a tremendous help in expanding ABA in North Dakota. 

Sincerely, 

PDK 
Paul. D. Kolstoe, PhD - ND Licensed Psychologist #333 

Specialist in Developmental Disabilities & Behavior Analysis 
Fellow - American Assoc on Intellectual & Developmental Disabilities 
Fellow - American Psychological Assoc: Int. & Dev. Disability Division 

All opinion expressed here is my own. The opinions in no way represent the Department of Human 
Services/Life Skills and Transition Center, ND State Board of Psychologist Examiners, ND 
Psychological Association, or ND Association on Behavior Analysis, all in which I have membership 
that adds to my unique perspective. 

Credential Information :  
My 39 year career has been exclusively in the practice of behavior analysis in psychology, first in 
Nebraska and the past 35 years in North Dakota. This includes 10 years of private practice of ABA in 
the Grand Forks region. I currently wear several hats in various professional roles: 

• Author and nationally recognized behavioral psychologist in the Am. Assoc. On Intellectual & 
Developmental Disabilities (AAIDD). Recognized as Fellow Status (outstanding contributions) 
in 1994. 

• Author and nationally recognized behavioral psychologist in the Am. Psychological Assoc. 
(APA). Recognized as Fellow Status (outstanding contributions) in 2009. 

• Clinical Director of CARES (1994) and Life Skills & Transition Center (2000). Psychologist 
since 1993. Director of Psychology 1995, DD Behavioral Health Service 7 ABAs added (2009). 

• Chair - Behavior Intervention Review Committees of Grand Forks (1989) and Grafton (1983). 
• Appointed to ND St. Board of Psychologist Examiners (2012) regulating Psychologists and 

Applied Behavior Analysts (added 2013). 
• Past President of ND Psychological Association (2007-2009) .  
• Co-Founder ND Association On Behavior Analysis (2010). 

Additionally, my family began serving North Dakota in psychology in 1922 when my grandfather, S.O. 
Kolstoe began teaching educational psychology at Valley City State University to teachers with his 
masters degree in psychology from UND. He became the first PhD in psychology from UND when he 
graduated in 1932. He retired in 1958 and a residence hall is named for him at VCSU. My father, Ralph 
Kolstoe, PhD joined the UND Psychology Department in 1957, became Chair 1963-1979, and retired in 
1992 - 9 years after I started at Grafton State School. He was the behavior modification consultant to 
the ND State Hospital and the Grafton State School through the 1960' s and 1970' s in the development 
of their specialized behavior modification programs. My family has provided 97 years of continuous 
behavioral and psychological service to the people of North Dakota, with cumulative years now totaling 
106 
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March 6, 2019 

Cha i rman We i z  a nd  Members of the House H uman Services Comm ittee :  

My name is  B l ake Peterson .  I am a boa rd certif ied and Licensed App l ied Behav ior  Ana lyst i n  Wah peto n .  

I have been p ract ic ing App l i ed Behavior Ana lys i s  i n  North Dakota s i nce 1991 a nd  became l icensed when 

th i s  became ava i l a b le  i n  2012 .  

I have been fo l lowing SB  2236 a s  i t  moves th ro ugh t he  leg is lature. From my  u ndersta nd ing  th is b i l l  was 

put forward to address concerns re lat ing to the t ime l iness a nd p rocess of becom i ng a licensed App l ied 

Behavior Ana lyst t h rough the North Da kota State Board of Psycho logist Exam ine rs ( NDSBPE ) .  I do not 

bel ieve that SB  2236 is necessa ry as the N DSBPE  has made improvements i n  the i r  effic iency whi le  

cont i nu i ng to p rov ide a thorough vett ing p rocess. 

Part of the i r  vett ing i nvo lves an o ra l  exam in which they add ress issues perta i n i ng to profess iona l 

conduct and  knowledge of the North Dakota century code re lated to the p rotection  of vu lnerab le a d u lts 

a nd ch i l d ren .  Pr ior  to s itt i ng for an ora l  exam a n  app l ica nt can be issued a p rovis iona l  l i cense .  The 

p rovis iona l  l i cense can be used for th ird pa rty re imbursement .  The use of the p rovis iona l  l icense has  

he lped e l im inate some of the  conce rns regard i ng  the  amount of t ime a pe rson needs  to  wa it to  begin 

pract ic ing in North  Dakota . After a person passes the i r  o ra l  exam with the N DSBPE  they may be fu l ly  

l icensed . P lease note that th i s  i s  my understand i ng of the process from my own expe r ience. 

For a person I supervise it took about one month to obta i n  a provis iona l  l icense. This was even after 

add it iona l  i nfo rmat ion was requested from the NDSBPE .  I wou ld  assume that the p rocess may have 

taken less t ime if the add it iona l  i nformat ion was not needed . 

Although the t ime to become fu l ly l i censed may take severa l months, I fee l  that such t ime l i nes a re 

appropriate when the vett ing process i s  used a lo ng with the issuance of p rovis ion a l  l icenses .  

Before voti ng on th is b i l l  I wou ld  ask that the Committee members cons ider  the N DSBPE's i ncreased 

effic iency a long with the important vett ing process they have i n  p lace to p rotect the c it izens of North 

Dakota . Cons iderat ion shou l d  a l so be given to how changes in the l i cen see tit les p roposed in the b i l l  

may  cause confus ion among consumers, i n su ra n ce compa n ies, and  others .  

5� 
B lake Peterson, M .S .  

Board Certified Behavio r Ana lyst #1-14-9551 

ND  Licensed App l ied Behav ior  Ana lyst #Ll 

btpeterson@702com . net 
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Senate Bill 2236 - Licensure & Regulation of Behavior Analyst Professionals 

House Human Services Committee 
Representative Robin Weisz, Chairman 

March 6, 2019 

Greetings committee members, 

I am Cristine Deaver, Licensed Applied Behavior Analyst (LABA) and Board Certified Behavior 
Analyst (BCBA). I am writing you today to share my thoughts about the SB 2236 Licensure of 
Behavior Analysts in ND. I was one of the first three BCBAs in ND (2009) and one of the first 4 
Licensed Behavior Analysts in ND (2012). I am an instructor in UND's ABA program and the 
ABA Graduate Director at UND and am a NDABA board member. I share this information with 
you to demonstrate my professional training and experience in behavior analysis and the practice 
of behavior analysis within ND. I speak to you on my own behalf and not to represent UND or 
the NDABA board. 

I am providing you with my thoughts about SB 2236 that related to the Licensure of Behavior 
Analysts in North Dakota. I know that there have been some concerns in the past about the 
turnaround time in communication and licensing of Behavior Analysts in North Dakota by the 
North Dakota State Board of Psychological Examiners (NDSBPE). However, I believe that 
changes have been made to address these concerns ( expedited temporary licenses). I am also 
aware that a behavior analyst would be eligible to be appointed to the NDSBPE by the governor 
and to date this has not taken place; the governor would also need to appoint a behavior analyst 
to the Board of Integrative Health Care. I believe that if the problems that were present in the 
past have been addressed and are no long an ongoing problem, changing boards may not be in 
our best interest at this time. 

Thank you for your time. 

Cristine Deaver, BCBA, LABA 
Board Certified Behavior Analyst 
ND Licensed Applied Behavior Analyst 
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NORTH DAKOTA PSYCHOLOG ICAL ASSOCIATION 

House Human Services Committee 

SB 2236 

Cha i rman  Weisz a n d  members of the  comm ittee, 

The No rth Da kota Psycho logica l Associ at ion i s  a non-profit p rofess ion a l  associ at ion fo r l i censed 

psycho log ists and othe rs affi l i ated with the de l ive ry of psycho logica l serv ices .  We a re made u p  

of ove r 100 psycho logists a l l  across t h e  state who p ract ice i n  a w ide va r iety o f  sett i ngs . I t  i s  p a rt 

of o u r  stated m i ss ion  to foster awa reness of menta l  hea lth a n d  psycho logica l i ssues among  

consume rs, t he  gene ra l  p ub l ic, hea lth ca re p rovi ders, a nd  government agenc ies, a nd  to  

advocate fo r i ssues affect i ng  ou r  com mun ity members so  tha t  t he  i nte rests o f  the  pub l i c  

welfa re a nd  psycho logi sts a re mutua l ly e nhanced .  

I 'm writ i ng  to br i ng  awa reness to  the  u n necessa ry cha nges to the  l i censu re a nd  regu lat ion of  

app l i ed  behav ior a n a lysts (ABAs } .  The h a rd work log ist ics of  figu r ing out how l i cense ABAs i n  

North  Da kota has  now been comp leted by the ND State Board of Psycho logist Exam i ne rs, a nd  i t  

i s  work i ng  we l l ,  a s  acknowledged d u r i ng  i nter im comm ittee hea ri ngs by severa l emp loyers of 

ABAs. I ' d  i nvite you r  attent ion to the po i nts be low:  

• Boa rd cert ifi ed  behaviora l  ana lys ists a pp ly ing fo r i n it i a l  l i censure i n  North Da kota ca n 

re l i a b ly receive the i r  p rovi s io n a l  l i cense ( enab l i ng  the i r  im med iate i ndependent p ract ice 

a nd  b i l l i ng }  with i n  2 to 4 weeks of i n it i a l  a pp l icat io n .  U pon  assessment of the behav iora l 

a n a lys ist' s fu l l  a pp l icat ion and  successfu l passage of the P rofess ion a l  Respons i b i l ity 

Eva l uat ion ( PRE} ,  ensu ri ng  knowledge of N D  state law ( such as  how to report ch i l d  a n d  

vu l n e rab l e  ad u lt abuse} ,  a beh aviora l  a n a lys i st may  receive t h e i r  fu l l  l i censu re .  T h e  P R E  

i s  assessed every 90  days . Th us, n ew app l ica nts ca n b e  p rovis ion a l ly pract ic i ng  with i n  2 

weeks a nd  fu l ly vetted with i n  90 days of i n it i a l  a pp l icat i on .  

• Movement to a new boa rd wi l l  create u n necessa ry b u reauc rat ic confus ion i n  t he  

t rans i t i o n .  I t  wi l l  p rovide no  new adva ntages, as  the  new board wi l l  sti l l  need to  assess 

n ew l i censees to ensu re that the app l i ca nt has knowledge of No rth  Dakota law befo re 

gra nt i ng a fu l l  l i cense .  

• Unde r  t he  I ntegrated Hea lth Boa rd, ABAs wou l d  be regu l ated by med ica l  p rofess i ona ls ,  

p ract i c i ng  i n  an u n related fi e l d ,  rather  than h uman  service spec i a l ists . The I ntegrated 

Hea lth Board 's  p rima ry mem bersh i p  wou l d  i n c l ude, at most, 1 ABA, a nd  it wou l d  o n ly 

receive advice from a 3-member  ABA adv isory com m ittee with no regu latory 

a uthor ity. The Psycho logy Boa rd ,  wh ich has  regu latory a uthority a nd  i s  focused on  t he  

b road  d i sc i p l i n e  o f  psycho logy, c a n  u lt i mate ly i n c l u de  u p  to 3 ABAs. 



• Cu rrent ly, t he re i s  no comp l a i nt on pub l i c  record with the  H uman  Serv ices o r  Hea lth 

Serv ices I nter im Com m ittees of p rob l ems  with the l i censu re/regi st rat i on  of ABAs in  

North  Da kota .  No  comp l a i nt has  been received by the ND State Boa rd of Psycho log ist 

Exam i ne rs, North Dakota Psycho logi ca l  Associ at ion,  or  North Da kota Assoc iat ion on  

Behav ior Ana lys i s .  Th us, th ere i s  no factua l  bas is  fo r a need fo r a regu l ato ry change .  

Matthew Dopp l e r  

matthew .dopp l e r@sanford hea lt h .o rg 
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